Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: May 30, 2023 ACCEPTED: September 3, 2023 PUBLISHED: September 11, 2023

Chern-Simons-Trinion theories: One-form symmetries and superconformal indices

Riccardo Comi,^{*a,b*} William Harding^{*a,b*} and Noppadol Mekareeya^{*b,c*}

^aDipartimento di Fisica, Università di Milano-Bicocca,

Piazza della Scienza 3, I-20126 Milano, Italy

^bINFN, sezione di Milano-Bicocca,

Piazza della Scienza 3, I-20126 Milano, Italy

^cDepartment of Physics, Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University, Phayathai Road, Pathumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

E-mail: r.comi2@campus.unimib.it, w.harding@campus.unimib.it, n.mekareeya@gmail.com

ABSTRACT: We study 3d theories containing $\mathcal{N} = 3$ Chern-Simons vector multiplets coupled to the SU(N)³ flavour symmetry of 3d T_N theories with Chern-Simons levels k_1 , k_2 and k_3 . It was formerly pointed out that these theories flow to infrared SCFTs with enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry when $1/k_1 + 1/k_2 + 1/k_3 = 0$. We examine superconformal indices of these theories which reveal that supersymmetry of the infrared SCFTs may get enhanced to $4 \leq \mathcal{N} \leq 6$ if such a condition is satisfied. Moreover, even if the Chern-Simons levels do not obey the aforementioned condition, we find that there is still an infinite family of theories that flows to infrared SCFTs with $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry. The 't Hooft anomalies of the one-form symmetries of these theories are analysed. As a by-product, we observe that there is generally a decoupled topological sector in the infrared. When the infrared SCFTs have $\mathcal{N} \geq 4$ supersymmetry, we also study the Higgs and Coulomb branch limits of the indices which provide geometric information of the moduli space of the theories in question in terms of the Hilbert series.

KEYWORDS: Anomalies in Field and String Theories, Chern-Simons Theories, Supersymmetric Gauge Theory, Supersymmetry and Duality

ARXIV EPRINT: 2305.07055



Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1
2	The	for ies with one T_2 building block	3
	2.1	One-form symmetries and their 't Hooft anomalies	5
	2.2	Cases that satisfy the ATT condition	6
		2.2.1 Special case of $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = (-k, 2k, 2k)$	7
		2.2.2 General results for $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = k(\mathfrak{pq}, -\mathfrak{pr}, -\mathfrak{qr})$ with $\mathfrak{r} = \mathfrak{p} + \mathfrak{q}$	13
		2.2.3 Higgs and Coulomb branches	14
	2.3	Cases that do not satisfy the ATT condition	14
		2.3.1 Special case of $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = (k, 1, 1)$	16
	2.4	Gluing with $T(SU(2))$ theories	19
		2.4.1 't Hooft anomalies of the one-form symmetries	20
		2.4.2 Summary of the results	21
3	The	pories with two T_2 building blocks	23
	3.1	Cases that satisfy the ATT condition	24
		3.1.1 Special case of $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = (-k, 2k, 2k)$	24
		3.1.2 General results for $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = k(\mathfrak{pq}, -\mathfrak{pr}, -\mathfrak{qr})$ with $\mathfrak{r} = \mathfrak{p} + \mathfrak{q}$	27
		3.1.3 Higgs and Coulomb branches	28
	3.2	Cases that do not satisfy the ATT condition	28
	3.3	Gluing with $T(SU(2))$ theories	29
4	The	ories with T_3 building blocks	31
	4.1	One T_3 building block	32
	4.2	Two T_3 building blocks	34
\mathbf{A}	The	ories with four T_2 building blocks	35
в	Mix	ed gauge/zero-form monopole operators	38

1 Introduction

Three-dimensional (3d) supersymmetric Chern-Simons (CS)-matter theories have rich infrared (IR) behaviours. For example, the $\mathcal{N} = 3$ superconformal field theory (SCFT) can be obtained as the IR fixed point of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theory deformed by a certain superpotential [1]. Moreover, if the gauge algebra and matter content are chosen appropriately in an $\mathcal{N}=3$ theory, supersymmetry may get further enhanced up to $\mathcal{N} = 8$ [2–10]. In particular, the $U(N)_k \times U(N)_{-k}$ CS theory with two hypermultiplets in the bifundamental representation

(in the 3d $\mathcal{N} = 4$ language) describes the system of N M2-branes on $\mathbb{C}^4/\mathbb{Z}_k$, where at large N it is dual to M-theory on $\mathrm{AdS}_4 \times S^7/\mathbb{Z}_k$, and at large N with a fixed ratio N/k is dual to Type IIA string theory on $\mathrm{AdS}_4 \times \mathbb{CP}^3$. This CS-matter theory provides the first explicit realisation of the $\mathrm{AdS}/\mathrm{CFT}$ correspondence in these dimensions [8].

In this article, we focus on $3d \mathcal{N} = 3$ vector multiplets coupled to a certain number of copies of a 3d SCFT, known as the 3d T_N theory, whose flavour symmetry is $SU(N)^3$. The 3d T_N theory can be realised by compactifying the 4d T_N theory [11, 12] on a circle, or equivalently by compactifying N M5-branes on a circle times a sphere with three full punctures. An example of the theories of our interest consists of that constructed from a single copy of the T_N theory such that the $SU(N)^3$ flavour symmetry is gauged with CS levels k_1, k_2 and k_3 . This can be realised by compactifying N M5-branes on a three-manifold which is a Seifert bundle over S^2 with three singular fibres, with Seifert parameters $1/k_1$, $1/k_2$ and $1/k_3$ [13, 14]. This example can be generalised further, for example, by involving many copies of the T_N theories where each SU(N) factor of the $SU(N)^3$ flavour symmetry of each copy is commonly gauged with CS levels k_1, k_2 and k_3 . The corresponding threemanifolds are then known as graph manifolds [14]. We remark *en passant* that, due to their richness in mathematical and physical properties, 3d theories arising from compactifying M5-branes on three-manifolds have received considerable attention over the recent years; see e.g. [15–25].

For the theories of our interest with general N, it was pointed out by the authors of [14] that whenever the CS levels satisfy the condition $\sum_{i=1}^{3} 1/k_i = 0$, then the theory flows to an IR SCFT with enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry.¹ For convenience, we shall refer to this condition as the Assel-Tachikawa-Tomasiello (ATT) condition. This statement was supported by a field theoretic argument. Geometrically, for a single copy of the T_N theory, supersymmetry enhancement is accounted for by the holonomy of the corresponding Seifert manifolds. However, when the theory contains more than one T_N building blocks, supersymmetry enhancement is left unaccounted for, in general, by the holonomy of graph manifolds.

One of the main objectives of this paper is to study supersymmetry enhancement of this family of theories, focusing on N = 2 and N = 3, using the superconformal index [26–33].² We find that, when the ATT condition is satisfied, supersymmetry of the IR SCFT generally gets enhanced to $\mathcal{N} = 4$, but there are also a large number of cases with $\mathcal{N} = 5$ and $\mathcal{N} = 6$ supersymmetry. Surprisingly we also find that, even if the ATT condition is not satisfied, there is still an infinite family of theories whose IR SCFTs have enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry. In particular, for certain special values of CS levels such as $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = (2, 1, 1)$, the IR SCFT turns out to be the rank-zero minimal $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SCFT, discussed in [23, 25]. Another main goal of this article is to study the one-form symmetries [37, 38] of these theories, as well as their (mixed) 't Hooft anomalies along the line of [13, 39], and the mixed 't Hooft anomalies between the one-form symmetries and zero-form symmetries using the method of [36] (see also [40]). As a result, we deduce that

¹We remark that for N = 2 and a single copy of the T_2 theory, the enhancement of supersymmetry to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ follows from the result of [5].

²We adopt the same notation as [33-36]. Each notation is defined in the main text.

there is generally a decoupled topological sector in the IR. We also identify these topological quantum field theories (TQFTs) using 't Hooft anomalies of the one-form symmetries. Importantly, we point out that, even if a set of theories flow to the same IR SCFTs (which can be deduced from the fact that the indices are the same or the associated three-manifolds are diffeomorphic to each other), the decoupled topological sectors may be different. We also gauge the non-anomalous one-form symmetry and study the resulting theories. Finally, we study the Higgs and Coulomb limits of the superconformal indices [41] for theories whose IR SCFTs have $\mathcal{N} \geq 4$ enhanced supersymmetry. These provide geometric information of the Higgs and Coulomb branches of the IR SCFTs in question in terms of the Hilbert series [42, 43].

The paper is organised as follows. In sections 2 and 3, we study theories with one and two T_2 building blocks, respectively. Their one-form symmetries and 't Hooft anomalies are investigated in section 2.1. The theories whose CS levels satisfy the ATT condition are then studied in sections 2.2 and 3.1. In this class of theories, the Higgs and Coulomb branch limits of the indices are studied in sections 2.2.3 and 3.1.3. We then move on to explore theories whose CS levels do not satisfy the ATT condition in sections 2.3 and 3.2. We also study theories coupled to one or many copies of the T(SU(2)) SCFT in sections 2.4 and 3.3. In section 4, we discuss theories with T_3 building blocks. We discuss their indices and 't Hooft anomalies of one-form symmetries. Due to the technicality of the computations, we focus on the indices of theories whose CS levels satisfy the ATT condition, from which we conclude that the IR SCFT has enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry. In appendix A, we study certain theories with four T_2 building blocks as well as their indices. In appendix B, the mixed gauge/zero-form monopole operators in theories with one and two T_2 building blocks such that the ATT condition is satisfied are examined. The potential mixed anomaly between the \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry and the zero-form flavour symmetry implied by the presence of such monopole operators is discussed.

Note added. After this paper had appeared on the arXiv, we found [44] with some overlapping content.

2 Theories with one T_2 building block

Let us consider the T_2 theory whose three SU(2) flavour symmetries are gauged with 3d $\mathcal{N} = 3$ Chern-Simons couplings (k_1, k_2, k_3) . We depict this theory diagrammatically by

 $T_2 \underbrace{k_2}_{k_3}$ (2.1)

where each finite line with label k_i denotes an $SU(2)_{k_i}$ gauge group. This theory was studied extensively in [14, section 2.2.1], where it was pointed out that (2.1) can be realised by compactifying M5-branes on a three-manifold which is a Seifert bundle over S^2 with three singular fibres, with Seifert parameters $1/k_1$, $1/k_2$ and $1/k_3$. The effective superpotential after integrating out the adjoint scalars is

$$W \propto \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{1}{k_i} \operatorname{tr}(\mu_i^2),$$
 (2.2)

where μ_i are the moment map operators for the SU(2)_i symmetry of the T_2 theory. In terms of the chiral fields $Q_{\alpha_1\alpha_2\alpha_3}$ of the T_2 theory, μ_i can be written as

$$(\mu_1)_{\alpha_1\alpha'_1} = \epsilon^{\alpha_2\alpha'_2} \epsilon^{\alpha_3\alpha'_3} Q_{\alpha_1\alpha_2\alpha_3} Q_{\alpha'_1\alpha'_2\alpha'_3},$$

$$(\mu_2)_{\alpha_2\alpha'_2} = \epsilon^{\alpha_1\alpha'_1} \epsilon^{\alpha_3\alpha'_3} Q_{\alpha_1\alpha_2\alpha_3} Q_{\alpha'_1\alpha'_2\alpha'_3},$$

$$(\mu_3)_{\alpha_3\alpha'_3} = \epsilon^{\alpha_1\alpha'_1} \epsilon^{\alpha_2\alpha'_2} Q_{\alpha_1\alpha_2\alpha_3} Q_{\alpha'_1\alpha'_2\alpha'_3},$$

$$(2.3)$$

where the indices $\alpha_i, \alpha'_i = 1, 2$ correspond to the SU(2)_i gauge group (with i = 1, 2, 3). From the above relations, it follows that

$$\operatorname{tr}(\mu_1^2) = \operatorname{tr}(\mu_2^2) = \operatorname{tr}(\mu_3^2) \equiv \operatorname{tr}(\mu^2)$$
 (2.4)

and so the effective superpotential can be rewritten as

$$W \propto \left(\frac{1}{k_1} + \frac{1}{k_2} + \frac{1}{k_3}\right) \operatorname{tr}(\mu^2).$$
 (2.5)

If the following condition is satisfied

$$\frac{1}{k_1} + \frac{1}{k_2} + \frac{1}{k_3} = 0, \qquad (2.6)$$

then supersymmetry gets enhanced from $\mathcal{N} = 3$ to $\mathcal{N} = 4$. This follows from the discussion in [5] and also from [9, 14]. Relation (2.6) is what we referred to as the ATT condition in the introduction. Subsequently we will show that this is a *sufficient*, but *not* necessary, condition for supersymmetry enhancement. In particular, in section 2.3, we will show that even if the ATT condition (2.6) is not satisfied, there are cases in which the IR SCFT has accidental $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry.

A main tool that we will use to analyse these theories is the superconformal index. It is explicitly given by

$$\mathcal{I}_{(2,1)}(a, n_a; x) = \left(\frac{1}{8} \prod_{i=1}^3 \oint \frac{dz_i}{2\pi i z_i}\right) \sum_{(m_1, m_2, m_3) \in \mathbb{Z}^3} \left(\prod_{i=1}^3 z_i^{2k_i m_i} \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{SU}(2)}(z_i; m_i; x)\right) \\
\times \prod_{s_1, s_2, s_3 = \pm 1} \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{1/2}(z_1^{s_1} z_2^{s_2} z_3^{s_3} a; s_1 m_1 + s_2 m_2 + s_3 m_3 + n_a; x),$$
(2.7)

where the SU(2) vector multiplet contribution is

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\rm vec}^{\rm SU(2)}(z;n;x) = x^{-2|n|} \prod_{s=\pm 1} \left(1 - (-1)^{2n} x^{2|n|} z^{2s}\right),\tag{2.8}$$

and the contribution of the chiral multiplet of R-charge R is

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{R}(z;m;x) = \left(x^{1-R}z^{-1}\right)^{|m|/2} \prod_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{1 - (-1)^{m}z^{-1}x^{|m|+2-R+2j}}{1 - (-1)^{m}z x^{|m|+R+2j}}.$$
(2.9)

If the CS levels satisfy the ATT condition (2.6), it follows from (2.5) that the effective superpotential is zero, and the U(1)_a flavour symmetry which assigns charge +1 to all of the eight chiral multiplets of the T_2 theory is a symmetry of the Lagrangian. We denote by a and n_a the fugacity and background magnetic flux for this flavour symmetry. Upon computing the series expansion of the index, we will set $n_a = 0$ and drop the n_a dependence from the index, i.e. we write the latter simply as $\mathcal{I}_{(2.1)}(a; x)$. Note also that, if the CS levels do not satisfy the ATT condition (2.6), we should set a = 1 and $n_a = 0$ in (2.7), since the U(1)_a flavour symmetry is no longer a symmetry of the effective superpotential (2.5).

2.1 One-form symmetries and their 't Hooft anomalies

We now discuss the one-form symmetries of theory (2.1) and their anomalies. Let us first consider the T_2 theory, whose global form of the manifest flavour symmetry is (see [45, (4.2)])

$$\frac{\mathrm{SU}(2)_1 \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_2 \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_3}{(\mathbb{Z}_2)_{13} \times (\mathbb{Z}_2)_{23}},\tag{2.10}$$

where $(\mathbb{Z}_2)_{ij}$ denotes the diagonal \mathbb{Z}_2 subgroup of the centre of $\mathrm{SU}(2)_i$ times the centre of $\mathrm{SU}(2)_j$. In other words, among the three \mathbb{Z}_2 factors that come from the centre of $\prod_{i=1}^3 \mathrm{SU}(2)_i$ in the numerator of (2.10), only two combinations present in the denominator act trivially on the four free hypermultiplets of the T_2 theory. Gauging each of the $\mathrm{SU}(2)_i$ symmetry therefore leads to the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ one-form symmetry. We will see that turning on CS levels k_i for each $\mathrm{SU}(2)_i$ gauge group (with i = 1, 2, 3) results in 't Hooft anomalies of a subgroup or the whole \mathbb{Z}_2^2 one-form symmetry.

The 't Hooft anomaly of the one-form symmetry in theory (2.1) with CS levels (k_1, k_2, k_3) is characterised by the 4d anomaly theory whose action is [46]

$$\frac{2\pi}{2} \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \sum_{i=1}^3 k_i \frac{\mathcal{P}(w_i^{(2)})}{2} , \qquad (2.11)$$

where each of $w_i^{(2)} \in H^2(\mathcal{M}_4, \mathbb{Z}_2)$ is the two-form background field for each \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry that arises from the centre of each $\mathrm{SU}(2)_i$ gauge group, $\mathcal{P}(w^{(2)})$ is the Pontryagin square operation and the integration is performed over a spin manifold \mathcal{M}_4 . Note that $\int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \mathcal{P}(w_i^{(2)})$ is even on a spin manifold \mathcal{M}_4 . Since among the \mathbb{Z}_2^3 centres of $\mathrm{SU}(2)^3$ only \mathbb{Z}_2^2 acts non-trivially on the trifundamental

Since among the \mathbb{Z}_2^3 centres of $\mathrm{SU}(2)^3$ only \mathbb{Z}_2^2 acts non-trivially on the trifundamental matter of the T_2 theory, we have the condition

$$\sum_{i=1}^{3} w_i^{(2)} = 0.$$
 (2.12)

Using the identity

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \mathcal{P}(A+B) = \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \mathcal{P}(A) + \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \mathcal{P}(B) + 2 \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} A \cup B , \qquad (2.13)$$

and the fact that $\int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \mathcal{P}(w_i^{(2)})$ is even on spin manifold \mathcal{M}_4 , we rewrite (2.11) as

$$S_{\text{anom}} = \frac{2\pi}{2} \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \left[(k_1 + k_3) \frac{\mathcal{P}(w_1^{(2)})}{2} + (k_2 + k_3) \frac{\mathcal{P}(w_2^{(2)})}{2} - k_3(w_1^{(2)} \cup w_2^{(2)}) \right]$$
(2.14)

after dropping terms that are integer multiples of 2π . Using the notation of [39, (F.8)]

$$S_{\text{anom}} = \frac{2\pi}{2} \left[\sum_{I=1}^{2} p_{II} \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \frac{\mathcal{P}(w_I^{(2)})}{2} + p_{12} \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} w_1^{(2)} \cup w_2^{(2)} \right], \qquad (2.15)$$

we see that the above anomalies can be summarised in following symmetric matrix p:

$$p = \begin{pmatrix} k_1 + k_3 & -k_3 \\ -k_3 & k_2 + k_3 \end{pmatrix} \mod 2.$$
 (2.16)

For $k_3 = 1$, this is in agreement with the anomaly matrix given by [13, (4.58)] with N = n = 2 and $k_{1,2} \rightarrow k_{1,2} + 1$.

We can decompose the \mathbb{Z}_2^2 one-form symmetry of (2.1) into two parts: a subgroup Γ_A of \mathbb{Z}_2^2 that has an 't Hooft anomaly and the anomaly free part \mathbb{Z}_2^2/Γ_A . The anomalous part Γ_A is given by $\Gamma_A = \mathbb{Z}_2^{\operatorname{rank}(p)}$, where $\operatorname{rank}(p)$ is the rank of matrix p. The non-anomalous one-form symmetry is then $\mathbb{Z}_2^{\dim(\ker p)}$, where $\ker p$ denotes the kernel (nullspace) of matrix p.

According to [13, (4.44)], it was proposed that theory (2.1) flows to an IR theory that splits into two subsectors:

1. the minimal abelian TQFT [39]:

$$\mathcal{A}^{\Gamma_{A,p}} = \begin{cases} \mathcal{A}^{2,1} \cong \mathrm{SU}(2)_1 \cong \mathrm{U}(1)_2 & \text{if } \mathrm{rank}(p) = 1\\ \mathcal{A}^{\{2,2\},p} \text{ of } [\mathbf{39}, \text{ appendix } \mathrm{F}] & \text{if } \mathrm{rank}(p) = 2 \end{cases};$$
(2.17)

2. the subsector $(2.1)_{AF}$, which can be an interacting SCFT or another TQFT, whose one-form symmetry is 't Hooft anomaly free.

The above statement can be summarised as^3

$$(2.1) = (2.1)_{\rm AF} \otimes \mathcal{A}^{\Gamma_A, p} \,. \tag{2.18}$$

This relation can be inverted as in [39, (1.13)] and [13, (4.45)], namely

$$(2.1)_{\rm AF} = \frac{(2.1) \otimes \mathcal{A}^{\Gamma_A, -p}}{\Gamma_A} \,. \tag{2.19}$$

2.2 Cases that satisfy the ATT condition

We consider theories with CS levels satisfying (2.6).

³A piece of evidence that supports this statement is as follows. We observe that there exist theories associated with diffeomorphic three-manifolds (their superconformal indices are equal) whose anomaly matrices p are inequivalent; see Footnote 12. For such theories, we interpret this phenomenon in the following way. The subsectors $(2.1)_{AF}$, characterised by the index, are the same. However, the topological sectors, characterised by the anomaly matrices, are different.

2.2.1 Special case of $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = (-k, 2k, 2k)$

These CS levels satisfy the ATT condition. Theory (2.1) with these CS levels, namely

$$T_2 \xrightarrow{k_1 = -k} K_2 = 2k$$

$$k_3 = 2k$$

$$(2.20)$$

can also be regarded as the $USp(2)_{-k} \times Spin(4)_{2k}$ gauge theory with a bifundamental half-hypermultiplet in the representation [2; 4] whose quiver diagram is

$$(USp(2)_{-k}) (2.21)$$

The equivalence of these two theories is due to the fact that $\text{Spin}(4) \cong \text{SU}(2) \times \text{SU}(2)$ and that the vector representation [4] of Spin(4) is equivalent to the representation [2; 2] of $\text{SU}(2) \times \text{SU}(2)$. The index of this theory can be derived as in [33, 35]. We first compute the index for the $\text{USp}(2)_{-k} \times \text{SO}(4)_{2k}$ gauge theory with the same matter content, namely

$$(USp(2)_{-k}) (2.22)$$

The index of this theory is

$$\mathcal{I}_{(2.22)}(\zeta, a; x) = \frac{1}{8} \sum_{(\mathfrak{m}_{1}, \mathfrak{m}_{2}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{2}} \sum_{\mathfrak{n} \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{2} \oint \frac{dv_{j}}{2\pi i v_{j}} v_{j}^{2k\mathfrak{m}_{j}} \right) \zeta^{\mathfrak{m}_{1}+\mathfrak{m}_{2}} \oint \frac{du}{2\pi i u} u^{-2kn} \\
\times \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{SO}(4)}(v_{1}, v_{2}; \mathfrak{m}_{1}, \mathfrak{m}_{2}; x) \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{USp}(2)}(u; \mathfrak{n}; x) \\
\times \prod_{i=1}^{2} \prod_{s_{1}, s_{2}=\pm 1} \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{1/2}(v_{i}^{s_{1}} u^{s_{2}} a; s_{1}\mathfrak{m}_{i} + s_{2}\mathfrak{n}; x) ,$$
(2.23)

where ζ is the fugacity for the zero-form magnetic symmetry such that $\zeta^2 = 1$, and the contribution of the SO(4) vector multiplet is

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{SO}(4)}(v_1, v_2; \mathfrak{m}_1, \mathfrak{m}_2; x) = x^{-|\mathfrak{m}_1 - \mathfrak{m}_2| - |\mathfrak{m}_1 + \mathfrak{m}_2|} \\ \times \prod_{s_1, s_2 = \pm 1} \left(1 - (-1)^{s_1 \mathfrak{m}_1 + s_2 \mathfrak{m}_2} x^{|s_1 \mathfrak{m}_1 + s_2 \mathfrak{m}_2|} v_1^{s_1} v_2^{s_2} \right) .$$
(2.24)

For simplicity, we have set the fugacity χ for the charge conjugation symmetry to unity. Theory (2.21) can be obtained by gauging the magnetic symmetry; its index reads

$$\mathcal{I}_{(2.21)}(a;x) = \frac{1}{2} \left[\mathcal{I}_{(2.22)}(\zeta = 1, a; x) + \mathcal{I}_{(2.22)}(\zeta = -1, a; x) \right].$$
(2.25)

It can be checked that (2.7) and (2.25) yield the same result for $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = (-k, 2k, 2k)$. In fact, the gauge fugacities and magnetic fluxes in (2.7) and (2.23) can be mapped to each other as follows:

$$z_1 = u, \qquad z_2^2 = v_1 v_2, \qquad z_3^2 = v_1 v_2^{-1}, m_1 = \mathfrak{n}, \qquad 2m_2 = \mathfrak{m}_1 + \mathfrak{m}_2, \qquad 2m_3 = \mathfrak{m}_1 - \mathfrak{m}_2.$$
(2.26)

The indices up to order x^4 are as follows.

k	Index	
1, 2	diverges	
3	$1 + 0x + (2a^4 - 1)x^2 + (a^6 - a^2 + a^{-2})x^3 + (3a^8 - a^4 - 2)x^4 + \dots$	(2.27)
4	$1 + 0x + (a^4 - 1)x^2 + a^{-2}x^3 + (2a^8 - 2)x^4 + \dots$	
≥ 5	$1 + 0x + (a^4 - 1)x^2 + a^{-2}x^3 + (a^8 - 2)x^4 + \dots$	

Note that, for $k \ge 5$, the indices for these cases differ from each other at a higher order than x^4 . For k = 1, 2, the index diverges and the theories are *bad* in the sense of Gaiotto and Witten [47].

Let us now analyse the superconformal multiplets and enhancement of supersymmetry for the cases of $k \geq 3$ using information from [48–50] (see also the argument in [34, 51]). The vanishing coefficient of x implies that there is no 3d $\mathcal{N} = 3$ flavour current multiplet $B_1[0]_1^{(2)}$. In general, the negative terms at order x^2 receive the contribution from the $\mathcal{N} = 3$ flavour current multiplet $B_1[0]_1^{(2)}$ and $\mathcal{N} = 3$ extra-SUSY current multiplet $A_2[0]_1^{(0)}$. Since the former is absent and the only negative term at order x^2 is -1, we conclude that there is precisely one $\mathcal{N} = 3$ extra SUSY-current multiplet that leads to the enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry in the IR.

As can be read off from the index, the bare monopole operator with magnetic fluxes (m_1, m_2, m_3) has dimension

$$\Delta(m_1, m_2, m_3) = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{s_1, s_2, s_3 = \pm 1} \left| \sum_{i=1}^3 s_i m_i \right| - \sum_{i=1}^3 2|m_i|, \qquad (2.28)$$

its charge under the $U(1)_a$ flavour symmetry is

$$a(m_1, m_2, m_3) = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{s_1, s_2, s_3 = \pm 1} \left| \sum_{i=1}^3 s_i m_i \right|$$
(2.29)

and it carries charge $2k_im_i$ under the Cartan subalgebra of each $SU(2)_i$ gauge factor.

Viewing the theory in question from the 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ perspective, the U(1)_a flavour current multiplet also contributes -1 at order x^2 in the index. As a consequence the aforementioned $\mathcal{N} = 3$ extra SUSY-current should be identified with that of the flavour symmetry. Furthermore, we see that there is no relevant operator due to the vanishing coefficient of x. For $k \geq 4$, there is one marginal operator corresponding to $\operatorname{tr}(\mu_1^2) =$ $\operatorname{tr}(\mu_2^2) = \operatorname{tr}(\mu_3^2)$, where μ_i is the moment map of the SU(2)_i flavour symmetry of the T_2 theory. For k = 3, we have an extra marginal operator which, according to (2.7), receives the contribution from the eight gauge magnetic fluxes $(m_1, m_2, m_3) = (\pm 2, \pm 1, \pm 1)$, where \pm here denotes all possible 8 sign combinations that can appear. Since the bare (non-gauge-invariant) monopole operators with such fluxes contribute $z_1^{\pm 12} z_2^{\pm 12} z_3^{\pm 12}$, x^{-4} and a^{-8} to the index, we interpret the aforementioned marginal operator as a dressed monopole operator, where such a bare monopole operator is dressed in a gauge invariant way with a combination of 12 chiral fields of the T_2 theory.

One-form symmetries and gauging thereof. We now examine the one-form symmetry of (2.1) with $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = (-k, 2k, 2k)$. From the discussion in section 2.1, we see that

CS levels	Anomaly	Non-anomalous	Anomalous	TQFT with	
(-k,2k,2k)	matrix p	1-form symmetry	1-form symmetry	anom. symmetry	
k even	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$	\mathbb{Z}_2^2	1	_	(2.30)
k odd	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	\mathbb{Z}_2	$\mathcal{A}^{2,1} \cong \mathrm{SU}(2)_1 \cong \mathrm{U}(1)_2$	

For k even, theory (2.20) flows to an $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SCFT with a non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2^2 one-form symmetry. However, for k odd, theory (2.20) flows to an $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SCFT with a non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry and a decoupled topological sector $\mathcal{A}^{2,1}$.

We can understand the above statement from another point of view. A slight modification of [52, (3.27)] (see also [52, (3.18), (3.19)]) states that the $\text{USp}(2N)_{-k} \times \text{SO}(2M)_{2k}$ gauge theory with bifundamental matter admits a quotient by a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry, whose generator is a combination of the \mathbb{Z}_2 centres of SO(2M) and USp(2N), if⁴

$$\frac{1}{2}k(M-N) \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(2.31)

In other words, the \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry of the $\mathrm{USp}(2N)_{-k} \times \mathrm{SO}(2M)_{2k}$ gauge theory is non-anomalous if (2.31) is satisfied. Applying this to (2.22), namely M = 2 and N = 1, we see that its non-anomalous one-form symmetry is

one-form symmetry of (2.22) =
$$\begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}_2 & k \text{ even} \\ \text{trivial} & k \text{ odd} \end{cases}$$
 (2.32)

Recall that theory (2.21), or equivalently theory (2.20), arises from gauging the \mathbb{Z}_2 zero-form magnetic symmetry of (2.22). Since gauging a discrete \mathbb{Z}_2 zero-form symmetry in 3d leads to a dual \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry, we conclude that for k odd theory (2.21) = (2.20) has a \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry. For k even, the one-form symmetry of theory (2.21) = (2.20) can be either $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ or its extension \mathbb{Z}_4 . Note that the extension is formed if theory (2.22), with k even, has a mixed anomaly between the \mathbb{Z}_2 zero-form magnetic symmetry and the \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry [53]. Subsequently, we will explicitly show that there is no extension of the symmetry to \mathbb{Z}_4 .

For this purpose, let us gauge the *whole* one-form symmetry of theory (2.21), i.e. we turn it into a dual zero-form symmetry. This is equivalent to gauging the \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form

⁴More generally, for the USp $(2N)_{k_2} \times SO(2M)_{k_1}$ gauge theory with bifundamental matter, this condition reads $\frac{1}{4}k_1M + \frac{1}{2}k_2N \in \mathbb{Z}$.

symmetry in (2.22), namely considering the $[USp(2)_{-k} \times SO(4)_{2k}]/\mathbb{Z}_2$ theory. The index of the latter can be computed as in (2.23) but with the inclusion of the summation over half-odd-integral fluxes; in particular, we modify the summation in (2.23) as follows:

$$\sum_{(\mathfrak{m}_1,\mathfrak{m}_2)\in\mathbb{Z}^2}\sum_{\mathfrak{n}\in\mathbb{Z}} \longrightarrow \sum_{p'=0}^1 s^{p'} \sum_{(\mathfrak{m}_1,\mathfrak{m}_2)\in\left(\mathbb{Z}+\frac{p'}{2}\right)^2}\sum_{\mathfrak{n}\in\mathbb{Z}+\frac{p'}{2}},\qquad(2.33)$$

where s is a fugacity for the \mathbb{Z}_2 zero-form symmetry arising from gauging the one-form symmetry such that $s^2 = 1$. For k odd, we see that the half-odd-integral fluxes (i.e. those correspond to p' = 1) do not contribute to the index; in other words, the index of the $[USp(2)_{-k} \times SO(4)_{2k}]/\mathbb{Z}_2$ theory is equal to that of the $USp(2)_{-k} \times SO(4)_{2k}$ theory. This is in agreement with the proposal that the one-form symmetry of (2.22) for k odd has a non-trivial 't Hooft anomaly.⁵ Let us focus on k even. We see that for p' = 0 the contribution from $\zeta^{\mathfrak{m}_1+\mathfrak{m}_2}$ is either 1 or ζ , whereas for p' = 1 we have either s or $s\zeta$. The elements of $\{1, \zeta, s, s\zeta\}$ form the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ zero-form symmetry. Observe that the \mathbb{Z}_2 zero-form symmetry associated with s and the \mathbb{Z}_2 zero-form magnetic symmetry associated with ζ do not form an extension to \mathbb{Z}_4 , since there is no element of order 4.

We can also see this from the perspective of theory (2.20). In order to gauge the whole one-form symmetry, we can do it in two steps. First, gauge the diagonal \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry, whose generator is a combination of the \mathbb{Z}_2 centres of $\mathrm{SU}(2)_{2k}$ and $\mathrm{SU}(2)_{2k}$; in other words, we consider the quotient $\mathrm{SU}(2)_{-k} \times [\mathrm{SU}(2)_{2k} \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_{2k}]/\mathbb{Z}_2$. The latter is equivalent to (2.22), namely the $\mathrm{USp}(2)_{-k} \times \mathrm{SO}(4)_{2k}$ gauge theory, since $\mathrm{SO}(4) \cong$ $[\mathrm{SU}(2) \times \mathrm{SU}(2)]/\mathbb{Z}_2$. We report the indices up to order x^4 below.

k	Index	
1, 2	diverges	
3	$1 + \zeta a^{2}x + \left[(2+\zeta)a^{4} - (1+\zeta)\right]x^{2} + \left[(1+2\zeta)a^{6} - (1+\zeta)a^{2} + a^{-2}\right]x^{3} + \left[(1+\zeta)a^{2} + + a^{-2}\right]x$	
	$\left[(3+2\zeta)a^8 - (1+\zeta)a^4 - 2 ight] x^4 + \dots$	
4	$1 + 0x + \left[(1 + \zeta)a^4 - 1\right]x^2 + \left[\zeta(a^6 - a^2) + a^{-2}\right]x^3 + $	(2.34)
	$\left[(2+\zeta)a^8-\zeta a^4-2\right]x^4+\dots$	
5	$1 + 0x + (a^{4} - 1) x^{2} + (\zeta a^{6} + a^{-2}) x^{3} + [(1 + \zeta)a^{8} - \zeta a^{4} - 2] x^{4} + \dots$	
≥ 6	$1 + 0x + (a^4 - 1)x^2 + a^{-2}x^3 + \left[(1 + \zeta)a^8 - 2\right]x^4 + \dots$	

For $k \ge 6$, the terms with fugacity ζ appear at a higher order than x^4 .

The second step is to gauge the remaining of \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry, i.e. we consider the further quotient $[SU(2)_{-k} \times [SU(2)_{2k} \times SU(2)_{2k}]/\mathbb{Z}_2]/\mathbb{Z}_2$. The index of the latter can be obtained from (2.7) by replacing the summation as

$$\sum_{(m_1,m_2,m_3)\in\mathbb{Z}^3} \longrightarrow \sum_{p'=0}^1 s^{p'} \sum_{m_1\in\left(\mathbb{Z}+\frac{p'}{2}\right)} \sum_{p=0}^1 \zeta^p \sum_{(m_2,m_3)\in\left(\mathbb{Z}+\frac{p}{2}\right)\times\left(\mathbb{Z}+\frac{p}{2}+\frac{p'}{2}\right)}, \quad (2.35)$$

⁵One can also check, in the same way as in [36, 40], that for k odd the integrand of the index (2.23) contains fractional powers of SO(4) gauge fugacities for the magnetic fluxes $(\mathfrak{n}, \mathfrak{m}_1, \mathfrak{m}_2) = (1/2, 1/2, 1/2)$.

where ζ is the fugacity of the \mathbb{Z}_2 zero-form symmetry arising from the first step and s is that arising from the second step.⁶ We deliberately used the same notation as those for the $[\text{USp}(2)_{-k} \times \text{SO}(4)_{2k}]/\mathbb{Z}_2$ theory since they can be identified with each other. As before, the elements of $\{1, \zeta, s, s\zeta\}$ form the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ zero-from symmetry. Moreover, it is clear from (2.35) that the order of gauging of the \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry in each of the two steps is immaterial; this confirms that the one-form symmetry of (2.20) is indeed $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ for k even.

For reference, we report the index for the $[\text{USp}(2)_{-k} \times \text{SO}(4)_{2k}]/\mathbb{Z}_2$ theory or the $[\text{SU}(2)_{-k} \times [\text{SU}(2)_{2k} \times \text{SU}(2)_{2k}]/\mathbb{Z}_2]/\mathbb{Z}_2$ theory, with k = 4, up to order x^9 as follows:

$$1 + (-1 + a^{4} + a^{4}\zeta)x^{2} + (a^{-2} - a^{2}\zeta + a^{6}\zeta)x^{3} + (-2 + 2a^{8} - a^{4}\zeta + a^{8}\zeta)x^{4} + (-a^{6} + a^{10} + a^{10}\zeta)x^{5} + (1 + a^{-4} - a^{4} - a^{8} + 2a^{12} - 2a^{4}\zeta + 2a^{12}\zeta)x^{6} + (-2a^{-2} - a^{6} + a^{14} + 2a^{2}\zeta - 2a^{6}\zeta - a^{10}\zeta + 2a^{14}\zeta)x^{7} + (-a^{4} - 2a^{8} + 3a^{16} - s + a^{4}s - \zeta + a^{4}\zeta - a^{12}\zeta + 2a^{16}\zeta - s\zeta + a^{4}s\zeta)x^{8} + (a^{-6} + 4a^{2} + 2a^{6} - a^{10} - a^{14} + 2a^{18} + 2a^{-2}s - 2a^{2}s - 5a^{6}\zeta - a^{10}\zeta + 2a^{18}\zeta + 2a^{-2}s\zeta - 2a^{2}s\zeta)x^{9} + \dots$$

$$(2.36)$$

On the other hand, for k odd, we find that the magnetic fluxes in the sector p' = 1 contribute zero to the index, and so the fugacity s does not appear.

Higgs and Coulomb branches. Let us now explore the Higgs and Coulomb branches of the IR 3d $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SCFT associated with this class of theories. We can take the Higgs and Coulomb branch limit of the index in a similar way as in [41] to obtain the Higgs and Coulomb branch Hilbert series as follows. We define

$$h = xa^2$$
, $c = xa^{-2}$,
or equivalently $x = (hc)^{1/2}$, $a = (h/c)^{1/4}$ (2.37)

and substitute them in the index (2.7). In the Higgs branch limit we send $c \to 0$ and keep h fixed, whereas in the Coulomb branch limit we send $h \to 0$ and keep c fixed.

Let us now apply this to (2.1) with CS levels (-k, 2k, 2k). We obtain the Higgs and Coulomb branch limits of (2.7) to be

Higgs limit
$$(2.1)_{(-k,2k,2k)}$$
: PE $\left[h^2 + h^{2k-4} + h^{2k-3} - h^{4k-6}\right]$, (2.38)
Coulomb limit $(2.1)_{(-k,2k,2k)}$: 1.

The former is indeed the Hilbert series of $\mathbb{C}^2/\hat{D}_{2k-2}$ [42, (5.31)]. These indicate that Higgs and Coulomb branches of the IR $\mathcal{N} = 4$ interacting SCFT associated with (2.1) with CS

⁶Observe that we have four mutually exclusive cases, namely (1) p = 0 and p' = 0: m_1, m_2, m_3 are integral and we have $\zeta^0 s^0 = 1$; (2) p = 1 and p' = 0: m_1 is integral, m_2, m_3 are half-odd-integral and we have $\zeta^1 s^0 = \zeta$; (3) p = 0 and p' = 1: m_1 is half-odd-integral, m_2 is integral, m_3 is half-odd-integral and we have $\zeta^0 s^1 = s$; (4) p = 1 and p' = 1: m_1 is half-odd-integral, m_2 is half-odd-integral, m_3 is integral and we have $\zeta^0 s^1 = s$; (4) p = 1 and p' = 1: m_1 is half-odd-integral, m_2 is half-odd-integral, m_3 is integral and we have ζs .

levels (-k, 2k, 2k) are $\mathbb{C}^2/\widehat{D}_{2k-2}$ and trivial, respectively. The generators of the Higgs branch, corresponding to h^2 , h^{2k-4} and h^{2k-3} , are respectively

$$w = \operatorname{tr}(\mu^2), \quad v = X_{(2,1,1)}Q^{4k}, \quad u = X_{(2,1,1)}Q^{4k-4}\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3,$$
 (2.39)

satisfying the relation

$$u^2 + v^2 w = w^{2k-3} \,. \tag{2.40}$$

Here $X_{(2,1,1)}$ denotes the bare monopole operator of flux (2, 1, 1), where it has dimension -4 and carries the flavour charge -8 as well as gauge charges (-4k, 4k, 4k) under the Cartan subalgebras of each $SU(2)_i$; see around (2.28). In the above $v = X_{(2,1,1)}Q^{4k}$ denotes the gauge invariant dressed monopole operator, where the bare monopoles with fluxes $(\pm 2, \pm 1, \pm 1)$ are dressed with appropriate combinations of 4k chiral multiplets Q of the T_2 theory. Note that $X_{(2,1,1)}$ contains 4k gauge indices of each $SU(2)_i$ and these are contracted with the gauge indices in Q^{4k} to form v. Similarly, for u, the gauge indices of $X_{(2,1,1)}$ are contracted with those of Q^{4k-4} as well as $\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3$, and the remaining indices are contracted with epsilon tensors.

Let us revisit the special case of k = 2, i.e. the CS levels (-2, 4, 4). Although the index diverges, the above computation shows that the Higgs branch is \mathbb{C}^2/\hat{D}_2 . This is reminiscent of the Higgs branch of the 3d $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SU(2) gauge theory with 2 hypermultiplets in the fundamental representation. The latter is the union of two isomorphic hyperKähler cones, each described by $\mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_2$ [47, 54–56]. We believe that the Higgs branch of the case of k = 2has the same structure.

We can also study of the Higgs and Coulomb branch limits of the $USp(2)_{-k} \times SO(4)_{2k}$ gauge theory, or equivalently $SU(2)_{-k} \times [SU(2)_{2k} \times SU(2)_{2k}]/\mathbb{Z}_2$, which comes from gauging a non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 subgroup of \mathbb{Z}_2^2 one-form symmetry of the aforementioned theory. We find that the Higgs and Coulomb branch limits are⁷

Higgs limit
$$(2.1)_{(-k,2k,2k)}/\mathbb{Z}_2^{[1]}$$
: PE $\left[h^2 + h^{k-2} + h^{k-1} - h^{2k-2}\right]$, (2.41)
Coulomb limit $(2.1)_{(-k,2k,2k)}/\mathbb{Z}_2^{[1]}$: 1.

The former is indeed the Hilbert series of \mathbb{C}^2/\hat{D}_k [42, (5.31)]. This means that the Higgs branch is \mathbb{C}^2/\hat{D}_k , and the Coulomb branch is trivial. The generators of the Higgs branch, corresponding to h^2 , h^{k-2} and h^{k-1} , are respectively

$$w = \operatorname{tr}(\mu^2), \quad v = X_{\left(1, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right)} Q^{2k}, \quad u = X_{\left(1, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right)} Q^{2k-4} \mu_1 \mu_2 \mu_3, \quad (2.42)$$

satisfying the relation

$$u^2 + v^2 w = w^{k-1} \,. \tag{2.43}$$

⁷Throughout the paper, we put superscript [1] whenever we would like to emphasise that the corresponding symmetry is one-form.

Here $X_{(1,\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2})}$ denotes the bare monopole operator of flux $(1,\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2})$, where it has dimension -2 and carries the flavour charge -4 as well as gauge charges (-2k, 2k, 2k) under the Cartan subalgebras of each $SU(2)_i$. The notations and contractions of the gauge indices are as described above.

2.2.2 General results for $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = k(\mathfrak{pq}, -\mathfrak{pr}, -\mathfrak{qr})$ with $\mathfrak{r} = \mathfrak{p} + \mathfrak{q}$

As pointed out in [14, Footnote 7], the ATT condition (2.6) admits the general solution of the form

$$k_1 = \mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q}k, \quad k_2 = -\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{r}k, \quad k_3 = -\mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{r}k,$$

with $\mathfrak{r} = \mathfrak{p} + \mathfrak{q}$ and $\mathfrak{p}, \mathfrak{q}, \mathfrak{r}, k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\neq 0}$. (2.44)

For simplicity, we will consider the cases of $\mathfrak{p} > 0$, $\mathfrak{q} > 0$ and k > 0. The index (2.7) receives non-trivial contributions from gauge fluxes (0, 0, 0) and $(\pm \mathfrak{r}, \pm \mathfrak{q}, \pm \mathfrak{p})n$ with $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$. The contribution from flux (0, 0, 0), up to order x^4 , reads

$$1 + 0x + (a^4 - 1)x^2 + a^{-2}x^3 + (a^8 - 2)x^4 + \dots$$
(2.45)

The contributions from the eight fluxes $(\pm \mathbf{r}, \pm \mathbf{q}, \pm \mathbf{p})n$ correspond to the gauge-invariant dressed monopole operators. According to the discussion around (2.28), it follows that the bare monopole operators associated with these fluxes have dimension $-2\mathbf{r}n$. The charge under the flavour symmetry is $-4\mathbf{r}n$, and the charges under the Cartan subalgebra of each $SU(2)_i$ are $2k\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{r}n(\pm 1, \pm 1, \pm 1)$. This bare monopole can be dressed with a combination of $2k\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{r}n$ chiral fields of the T_2 theory to form gauge invariant quantities. As a consequence, such gauge-invariant dressed monopole operators have dimension $(-2 + k\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q})\mathfrak{r}n$ and the charge under the flavour symmetry $(-4 + 2k\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q})\mathfrak{r}n$. Indeed, if $(-2 + k\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q})\mathfrak{r}n$ is sufficiently large, the index (2.45) at sufficiently low order in x does not get affected by these dressed monopole operators. In any case, using the same argument as above, we see from (2.45) that the SCFT in the IR has enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry, regardless of the contribution of the dressed monopole operators.

In the previous example of (-k, 2k, 2k), corresponding to $\mathfrak{p} = 1$, $\mathfrak{q} = 1$ and $\mathfrak{r} = 2$, we see that the dimension of such gauge-invariant dressed monopole operators is (2k - 4)n and the charge under flavour symmetry is (4k - 8)n. Indeed, for k = 3, in addition to (2.45), we have the terms a^4x^2 and a^8x^4 coming from n = 1 and n = 2 (up to order x^4); as reported in (2.27). Similarly for k = 4, we have an additional term a^8x^4 coming from n = 1; see (2.27). For k = 1 and k = 2, the dimensions are negative (or zero) and this is why the indices diverge; as reported in (2.27).

One-form symmetries. Let us now discuss the one-form symmetries as well as the topological sector in the IR. From the discussion in section 2.1, we see that if k is even, then all of the CS levels (k_1, k_2, k_3) are even and it follows that the anomaly action (2.14) is an integral multiple of 2π , which means that the corresponding anomaly theory is trivial. We thus turn to the case in which k is odd, in which case the anomaly theory is the same

CS levels	Anomaly	Non-anomalous	Anomalous	TQFT with	
$(\mathfrak{pq},-\mathfrak{pr},-\mathfrak{qr})$	matrix p (2.16)	1-form symmetry	1-form symmetry	anom. symmetry	
Both $\mathfrak{p},\mathfrak{q}$ even	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$	\mathbb{Z}_2^2	1	_	
${\mathfrak p}$ even, ${\mathfrak q}$ odd	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	\mathbb{Z}_2	$\mathcal{A}^{2,1} \cong \mathrm{SU}(2)_1 \cong \mathrm{U}(1)_2$	(2.46)
${\mathfrak p}$ odd, ${\mathfrak q}$ even	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	\mathbb{Z}_2	$\mathcal{A}^{2,1} \cong \mathrm{SU}(2)_1 \cong \mathrm{U}(1)_2$	
Both $\mathfrak{p},\mathfrak{q}$ odd	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	\mathbb{Z}_2	$\mathcal{A}^{2,1} \cong \mathrm{SU}(2)_1 \cong \mathrm{U}(1)_2$	

as that for k = 1. We summarise the information in the table below.

We thus conclude that if both \mathfrak{p} and \mathfrak{q} are even, the theory flows to an IR $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SCFT with a non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2^2 one-form symmetry with no decoupled topological sector; otherwise, it flows to an IR $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SCFT with a non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry with the decoupled $\mathcal{A}^{2,1}$ TQFT.

2.2.3 Higgs and Coulomb branches

We can compute the Coulomb and Higgs branch limits of (2.7) as in (2.37). The result is as follows:

Higgs limit:
$$\operatorname{PE}\left[h^2 + h^K + h^{K+1} - h^{2K+2}\right], \quad K = \mathfrak{pqr}k - 2\mathfrak{r},$$

Coulomb limit: 1. (2.47)

These indicate that the Higgs branch is $\mathbb{C}^2/\hat{D}_{K+2}$, and the Coulomb branch is a point. The generators of the Higgs branch, corresponding to h^2 , h^K and h^{K+1} , are respectively

$$w = \operatorname{tr}(\mu^2), \quad v = X_{(\mathfrak{r},\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{p})}Q^{2\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{r}k}, \quad u = X_{(\mathfrak{r},\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{p})}Q^{2\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{r}k-4}\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3, \quad (2.48)$$

satisfying the relation

$$u^2 + v^2 w = w^{K+1} \,. \tag{2.49}$$

In the above, $X_{(\mathfrak{r},\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{p})}$ denotes the bare monopole operator of flux $(\mathfrak{r},\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{p})$, where it has dimension $-2\mathfrak{r}$ and carries the flavour charge $-4\mathfrak{r}$ as well as the gauge charges $2\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{r}k(1,-1,-1)$ under the Cartan subalgebras of each $\mathrm{SU}(2)_i$. The notations and contractions of the gauge indices are as described below (2.40).

2.3 Cases that do not satisfy the ATT condition

In this subsection, we focus on (2.1) whose CS levels do not satisfy the ATT condition (2.6). As can be seen from the effective superpotential (2.5), the flavour symmetry associated with the fugacity a is explicitly broken, and the marginal operator $tr(\mu^2)$ is set to zero in the chiral ring.

We will consider three interesting families of theories arising from M5-branes compactified on the quotient of the three-sphere S^3/Γ , where Γ is a finite subgroup of SU(2). The CS levels for each of these families are as follows [13, section 5.4.3]:

• Lens space⁸ L(p,q) with⁹ $\frac{p}{q} = (k_1+1) - \frac{1}{k_2+1}$ or $(k_2+1) - \frac{1}{k_1+1}$. Explicitly, we take $p = |k_1k_2 + k_1 + k_2|$ and $q = \pm (k_1+1)$ or $\pm (k_2+1)$. (2.50)

This corresponds to the CS levels $(k_1, k_2, 1)$.

- S^3/D_n : This corresponds to the CS levels (-2, 2, n-2).
- S^3/E_m : This corresponds to the CS levels (-2, 3, m-3).

We summarise the results in each case below.

- 1. Let us consider the CS levels $(k_1, k_2, 1)$. We have three cases as follows:
 - If p = 1, i.e. the Lens space is diffeomorphic to the three-sphere, namely $L(p = 1, q) \cong S^3$, then the index vanishes and IR theory is trivial.
 - If $p \neq 1$ and both choices of q in (2.50) satisfy either of the following conditions:¹⁰

One of the q is $\pm 1 \pmod{p}$ and the other is divisible by p, or both choices of q are $\pm 1 \pmod{p}$, (2.51)

then the index $(2.7)_{a=1}$ is equal to unity, and so theory (2.1) flows to a TQFT.

• Otherwise, the index $(2.7)_{a=1}$ takes the form

$$1 + 0x - x^2 + 2x^3 + \dots, (2.52)$$

where 0x indicates that there is no $\mathcal{N} = 3$ flavour current and $-x^2$ indicates that there is one $\mathcal{N} = 3$ extra SUSY-current; therefore, each theory in this subclass flows to a **3d** $\mathcal{N} = 4$ **interacting SCFT**, where supersymmetry gets **enhanced** in the IR, with a decoupled TQFT.

Using the information in section 2.1, we summarise the information about the anomalies and TQFTs below.

CS levels	Anomaly	Non-anomalous	Anomalous	TQFT with	
$(k_1, k_2, 1)$	matrix p	1-form symmetry	1-form symmetry	anom. symmetry	
Both k_1 and	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$	1	\mathbb{Z}_2^2	$\mathcal{A}^{\{2,2\},p} \equiv (\mathcal{Z}_2)_0$	
k_2 are odd				in the notation of [39]	
k_1 is even	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$	1	\mathbb{Z}_2^2	$\mathcal{A}^{\{2,2\},p} \equiv (\mathcal{Z}_2)_2$	(2.53)
and k_2 is odd					
Both k_1 and	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	\mathbb{Z}_2	$\mathcal{A}^{2,1} \cong \mathrm{SU}(2)_1$	
k_2 are even				$\cong U(1)_2$	

⁸Recall that the Lens space L(p,q) can be viewed as the quotient space S^3/\mathbb{Z}_p with the identification $(z_1, z_2) \sim (e^{2\pi i/p} z_1, e^{2\pi i q/p} z_2).$

¹⁰These conditions lead to the following identifications: $(z_1, z_2) \sim (e^{2\pi i/p} z_1, e^{\pm 2\pi i/p} z_2)$ or $(z_1, z_2) \sim (e^{2\pi i/p} z_1, z_2)$, with $p \neq 1$.

⁹According to [57, Theorem 2.5], the Lens spaces L(p,q) and L(p',q') are diffeomorphic if and only if p' = p and $q' = \pm q^{\pm 1} \pmod{p}$.

Note that, in the case of k_1 and k_2 even, theory (2.1) flows to either

- an $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SCFT with a non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry $\otimes \mathcal{A}^{2,1}$, or
- a TQFT with non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry $\otimes \mathcal{A}^{2,1}$

depending on the value of p/q as discussed above.

2. Let us consider the CS levels (-2, 2, n-2) with $n \ge 4$.¹¹ The index $(2.7)_{a=1}$ is unity. This indicates that the theory flows to a TQFT in the IR.

CS levels	Anomaly	Non-anomalous	Anomalous	TQFT with	
	matrix p	1-form symmetry	1-form symmetry	anom. symmetry	
n even	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$	\mathbb{Z}_2^2	1	_	(2.54)
n odd	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	\mathbb{Z}_2	$\mathcal{A}^{2,1} \cong \mathrm{SU}(2)_1 \cong \mathrm{U}(1)_2$	

For *n* even, theory (2.1) flows to a TQFT that has a non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2^2 one-form symmetry, whereas for *n* odd, it flows to a TQFT that has a non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry $\otimes \mathcal{A}^{2,1}$.

3. Let us consider the CS levels (-2, 3, m - 3) with m = 6, 7, 8. The index $(2.7)_{a=1}$ is unity, and so theory (2.1) flows to a TQFT in the IR.

CS levels	Anomaly	Non-anomalous	Anomalous	TQFT with	
	matrix p	1-form symmetry	1-form symmetry	anom. symmetry	
m even	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$	1	\mathbb{Z}_2^2	$\mathcal{A}^{\{2,2\},p} \equiv (\mathcal{Z}_2)_2$	(2.55)
m odd	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$	\mathbb{Z}_2	\mathbb{Z}_2	$\mathcal{A}^{2,1} \cong \mathrm{SU}(2)_1 \cong \mathrm{U}(1)_2$	

For *m* even, theory (2.1) flows to the TQFT $\mathcal{A}^{\{2,2\},p} \equiv (\mathcal{Z}_2)_2$, whereas for *m* odd, it flows to a TQFT that has a non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry $\otimes \mathcal{A}^{2,1}$.

2.3.1 Special case of $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = (k, 1, 1)$

For any integer k, these CS levels do **not** satisfy the ATT condition.¹² Let us report the indices, up to order x^{10} , for the cases of $k \ge 1$ below:

k	Index	
1	1	
2	$1 - x^{2} + 2x^{3} - 2x^{4} + 2x^{5} - 2x^{6} + 2x^{7} - 2x^{8} + 2x^{10} + \dots$	(2.56)
3	$1 - x^2 + 2x^3 - 2x^4 + x^5 + x^8 - 4x^9 + 7x^{10} + \dots$	
≥ 4	$1 - x^2 + 2x^3 - 2x^4 + x^5 - 2x^9 + 5x^{10} + \dots$	

where for $k \ge 4$ the indices differ from each other at higher order than x^{10} .

¹¹The case of n = 3 was discussed in Case 1.

¹²Other CS levels that leads to the same IR SCFTs in accordance with Footnote 9 are, for example, $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = (-k - 1, 1, 1)$ and (k - 1, -3, 1). We have checked that the indices of the corresponding theories are equal. However, if k is even, the topological sector for (k, 1, 1) is $(\mathcal{Z}_2)_2$, whereas that for (-k - 1, 1, 1)and (k - 1, -3, 1) is $(\mathcal{Z}_2)_0$. On the other hand, if k is odd, the situation is reverse: the topological sector for (k, 1, 1) is $(\mathcal{Z}_2)_0$ and that for (-k - 1, 1, 1) and (k - 1, -3, 1) is $(\mathcal{Z}_2)_2$. We expect that different topological sectors (despite the diffeomorphism of the three-manifolds) arise from different choices of polarisation of the 6d $\mathcal{N} = (2, 0)$ theory; see also [13]. For k = 1, the theory flows to the TQFT given by the first row of (2.53). For $k \ge 2$, each of these theories flows to an *interacting SCFT with enhanced* $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry, along with a decoupled TQFT, in the IR. The enhancement of supersymmetry from $\mathcal{N} = 3$ to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ can be deduced using the same argument as in the precedent subsection: due to the absence of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ preserving marginal operator, the term $-x^2$ indicates that there is one $\mathcal{N} = 3$ extra SUSY-current, rendering the enhanced supersymmetry. From (2.53), we see that the interacting SCFT does not have a non-anomalous one-form symmetry, and the decoupled TQFT has an anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2^2 one-form symmetry whose anomaly is given by the first or second row of (2.53) depending whether k is odd or even.

The case of k = 2. The case of k = 2 is of particular importance: the SCFT in question turns out to be the (rank-zero) minimal 3d $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SCFT, discussed in [23, 25]. From (2.7), the index of this theory, up to order x^{12} , is

$$1 - x^{2} + 2x^{3} - 2x^{4} + 2x^{5} - 2x^{6} + 2x^{7} - 2x^{8} + 2x^{10} - 2x^{11} + 3x^{12} + \dots$$
 (2.57)

This turns out to be equal to the index of the (rank-zero) minimal 3d $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SCFT, described by 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2 \text{ U}(1)_{-3/2}$ gauge theory with one chiral multiplet of charge 1 [23, 25], namely

$$\oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i z} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} w^m z^{-\frac{3}{2}m} \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{1/3}(z,m;x)$$

$$= 1 - x^2 + (w + w^{-1})x^3 - 2x^4 + (w + w^{-1})x^5 - 2x^6$$

$$+ (w + w^{-1})x^7 - 2x^8 + (w^2 + w^{-2})x^{10} - (w + w^{-1})x^{11}$$

$$+ (w^2 + 1 + w^{-2})x^{12} + \dots,$$
(2.58)

upon setting the fugacity w for the topological symmetry to 1. It was pointed out in [23] that, in the U(1)_{-3/2} CS theory, supersymmetry gets enhanced from $\mathcal{N} = 2$ to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ in the IR. Viewing these as $\mathcal{N} = 2$ indices, the absence of the term at order x and the positive term at order x^2 implies that there is no $\mathcal{N} = 2$ preserving relevant and marginal deformation. As pointed out by [49, 50] (see also [48]), at order x^3 , there are two $\mathcal{N} = 2$ extra SUSY-current multiplets $A_1\overline{A}_1[1]_{3/2}^{(0)}$ that render supersymmetry enhancement. Here we find a *new description*, in terms of the $\mathcal{N} = 3$ gauge theory (2.1) with the CS levels (2, 1, 1), of the minimal 3d $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SCFT, along with the decoupled TQFT described in the second row of (2.53). The $\mathcal{N} = 3$ extra SUSY-current of this theory should actually be identified with the current of the topological symmetry that is manifest in the 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ U(1)_{-3/2} CS theory.

In fact, there is another theory that has a similar behaviour: the 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2 \text{ U}(1)_0$ gauge theory with one chiral multiplet of charge 2. This was, in fact, mentioned in [23, (36)]. The three-sphere partition function of this theory is $Z = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}s \,\Gamma_h(ir+2s)$,¹³ where r is the R-charge of the chiral multiplet. It turns out that the value of |Z| is independent of r such that $0 \leq r < 1$, and we find that the free energy is $F \equiv -\log |Z| = -\log \sqrt{\frac{5-\sqrt{5}}{10}} + \log \sqrt{2}$.

 $^{^{13}}$ Here we use the same convention as [32, section 5.1] and turn off the FI and mass parameters.

According to [25, (3.6)], the free energy of the minimal 3d $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SCFT is $-\log \sqrt{\frac{5-\sqrt{5}}{10}}$. The other contribution comes from the TQFT $\mathcal{A}^{2,1} \cong U(1)_2$, whose free energy is given by $-\log \left| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}s \, e^{2\pi i s^2} \right| = \log \sqrt{2}$. Hence, we conclude that the 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ U(1)₀ gauge theory with one chiral multiplet of charge 2 flows to the minimal 3d $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SCFT along with the $\mathcal{A}^{2,1}$ TQFT. Indeed, the index of the U(1)₀ gauge theory is given by the integral $\oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i z} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} w^m \mathcal{Z}^r_{\chi}(z^2, 2m; x)$ and the result turns out to be equal to (2.58).

Description in terms of the $USp(2)_k \times Spin(4)_1$ gauge theory. Theory (2.1) with the CS levels (k, 1, 1) can also be described by the 3d $\mathcal{N} = 3$ $USp(2)_k \times Spin(4)_1$ gauge theory with a half-hypermultiplet in the representation [4; 2]. In fact, it can be checked that the index of this theory is equal to that of the $USp(2)_k \times SO(4)_1$ gauge theory with the same matter content. This is because in the latter the bare monopole operators cannot be dressed by the half-hypermultiplet to form a gauge invariant operator. Since the fugacity ζ of the \mathbb{Z}_2 zero-form magnetic symmetry does not appear in the index of the $USp(2)_k \times SO(4)_1$ gauge theory, this means it acts trivially on the local operators. This indeed signalises that the corresponding dual one-form symmetry in the $USp(2)_k \times Spin(4)_1$ gauge theory acts on the line operators of the decoupled topological sector, in accordance with the above statement that the interacting SCFT does not have a non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry. Note that the topological sector is invisible to the index computation (2.7).

The $USp(2)_k \times SO(4)_1$ gauge theory may have a non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry, depending on k. As before, the condition for the existence of a \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry of this theory can be determined by a simple generalisation of [52, (3.27)] (see Footnote 4 with $k_1 = 1, M = 2, k_2 = k$ and N = 1):

$$\frac{1}{4} \times 1 \times 2 + \frac{1}{2}k = \frac{1}{2}(k+1) \in \mathbb{Z} \qquad \Leftrightarrow \qquad k \text{ is odd}.$$
(2.59)

We interpret this results as follows. Although theory (2.1) with the CS levels (k, 1, 1), or equivalently the USp $(2)_k \times$ Spin $(4)_1$ gauge theory, has an anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2^2 one-form symmetry, its \mathbb{Z}_2 diagonal subgroup is non-anomalous for k odd. This can be seen directly from the action (2.14) of the anomaly theory: $S_{\text{anom}} = -\frac{2\pi}{2} \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} (w_1^{(2)} \cup w_2^{(2)})$, where the first two terms of (2.14) can be dropped. Upon taking $w_1^{(2)} = w_2^{(2)} \equiv B^{(2)}$, we have $S_{\text{anom}} = -2\pi \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \mathcal{P}(B^{(2)})/2$. Since $\int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \mathcal{P}(B^{(2)})$ is even on a spin manifold \mathcal{M}_4 , this action is an integer multiple of 2π ; this indicates that the \mathbb{Z}_2 diagonal subgroup of \mathbb{Z}_2^2 one-form symmetry is non-anomalous for k odd. On the other hand, for k even, we also have a non-trivial contribution from the first term of (2.14), namely $\pi(k-1) \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \mathcal{P}(w_1^{(2)})/2$; this renders the anomaly of the \mathbb{Z}_2 diagonal subgroup non-trivial.

For k odd, the above interpretation can be supported by an explicit realisation of the topological sector $(\mathbb{Z}_2)_0$; see the first row of (2.53). As discussed around [39, (2.7)], the \mathbb{Z}_2^2 one-form symmetry of the $(\mathbb{Z}_2)_0$ TQFT is generated by the basic electric and magnetic lines V_E , V_M of integer spins, where each of such lines generates a \mathbb{Z}_2 non-anomalous one-form symmetry labelled by p = 0. Due to a non-trivial mutual braiding phase $e^{-i\pi}$ of V_E and V_M , we can always find a line b that generates a \mathbb{Z}_2 subgroup of the \mathbb{Z}_2^2 one-form symmetry with anomaly characterised by p (with $p = 0, 1 \mod 2$), namely $b = V_E^{p/2}V_M$. We see that

the \mathbb{Z}_2 diagonal subgroup, generated by the line $V_E V_M$, of the \mathbb{Z}_2^2 one-form symmetry is indeed anomaly free.

2.4 Gluing with T(SU(2)) theories

Let us now include the T(SU(2)) SCFT [47] into the discussion. This theory can be realised as an IR SCFT of the 3d $\mathcal{N} = 4$ U(1) gauge theory with two hypermultiplets of charge 1 and it has an $SU(2)_H \times SU(2)_C$ flavour symmetry with the mixed anomaly given by the following anomaly theory (see [21, 58, 59] and also [60])

$$\pi \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} w_2^H \cup w_2^C \,, \tag{2.60}$$

where w_2^H and w_2^C are, respectively, the second Stiefel-Whitney classes associated with the $SO(3)_H$ and $SO(3)_C$ bundles that obstruct the lift to the $SU(2)_H$ and $SU(2)_C$ bundles.

As discussed in [14], an interesting generalisation of (2.1) is to gauge the diagonal subgroup of the $SU(2)_i$ symmetries (with i = 1, 2, 3) of the T_2 theory and the $SU(2)_C$ global symmetry of the *i*-th copy of the T(SU(2)) theory with CS level $k_i^{(1)}$, and then gauge the $SU(2)_H$ global symmetry of the *i*-th copy of the T(SU(2)) theory with CS level $k_i^{(2)}$. The resulting theory can be represented as

where S stands for the T(SU(2)) theory. More generally, we could consider the following longer 'tail':

$$\underbrace{k_i^{(1)}}_{S} S \underbrace{k_i^{(2)}}_{S} S \underbrace{k_i^{(3)}}_{S} \cdots \underbrace{k_i^{(a_i-1)}}_{S} S \underbrace{k_i^{(a_i)}}_{S}$$
(2.62)

For simplicity, we focus on the configuration (2.61). As pointed out in [14, section 3.3], this model can be realised by compactifying M5-branes on a three-manifold given by a Seifert bundle over S^2 with three singular fibers, with Seifert parameters q_1/p_1 , q_2/p_2 and q_3/p_3 , where

$$\frac{p_i}{q_i} = k_i^{(1)} - \frac{1}{k_i^{(2)}}, \qquad i = 1, 2, 3.$$
(2.63)

The effective superpotential after integrating out the adjoint scalars is

$$W = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{q_1}{p_1} + \frac{q_2}{p_2} + \frac{q_3}{p_3} \right) \operatorname{tr}(\mu^2) + \sum_{i=1}^3 \frac{q_i}{p_i} \operatorname{tr}(\mu_i \mu_{i,C}), \qquad (2.64)$$

where μ_i^C denotes the moment map of the $\mathrm{SU}(2)_C$ global symmetry of the *i*-th copy of the $T(\mathrm{SU}(2))$ theory, and μ_i is the moment map of the $\mathrm{SU}(2)_i$ global symmetry of the T_2 theory satisfying (2.4). The ATT condition (2.6) is then generalised to [14]

$$\frac{q_1}{p_1} + \frac{q_2}{p_2} + \frac{q_3}{p_3} = 0.$$
(2.65)

Similarly to (2.1), we will again show that this is a *sufficient* condition for supersymmetry enhancement in the IR. However, even if (2.65) is not satisfied, there are cases in which the IR SCFT has accidental $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry.

The index of the T(SU(2)) SCFT can be written as

$$\mathcal{I}_{T(SU(2))}(w,n|f,m|a,n_{a};x) = \sum_{l\in\mathbb{Z}} (w^{2})^{l} \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i z} z^{n} \prod_{s=\pm 1} \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{1/2}((zf)^{s}a;s(l+m)+n_{a};x)$$

$$\times \quad \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{1/2}((z^{-1}f)^{s}a;s(-l+m)+n_{a};x),$$
(2.66)

where (w, n) are the (fugacity, background magnetic flux) for the topological symmetry, (f, m) are those for the flavour symmetry, and (a, n_a) are those for the axial symmetry. Here we normalise the power of the fugacity w in such a way that the elementary monopole operators V_{\pm} carry the fugacity $a^{-2}w^{\pm 2}$. In this way, the Coulomb branch moment maps correspond to the term $a^{-2}\chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)_C}(w)x$ in the index, and the Higgs branch moment maps correspond to the term $a^2\chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)_H}(f)x$. The index for theory (2.61) is therefore given by

$$\mathcal{I}_{(2.61)}(a, n_a; x) = \left(\frac{1}{8} \prod_{i=1}^3 \oint \frac{dz_i}{2\pi i z_i}\right) \sum_{(m_1, \cdots, m_3) \in \mathbb{Z}^3} \left(\frac{1}{8} \prod_{i=1}^3 \oint \frac{df_i}{2\pi i f_i}\right) \sum_{(\widehat{m}_1, \cdots, \widehat{m}_3) \in \mathbb{Z}^3} \\
\times \left(\prod_{i=1}^3 z_i^{2k_i^{(1)}m_i} \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{SU}(2)}(z_i; m_i; x)\right) \left(\prod_{i=1}^3 f_i^{2k_i^{(2)}\widehat{m}_i} \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{SU}(2)}(f_i; \widehat{m}_i; x)\right) \\
\times \prod_{s_1, s_2, s_3 = \pm 1} \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{1/2}(z_1^{s_1} z_2^{s_2} z_3^{s_3} a; s_1 m_1 + s_2 m_2 + s_3 m_3 + n_a; x) \\
\times \prod_{i=1}^3 \mathcal{I}_{T(\text{SU}(2))}(z_i, m_i | f_i, \widehat{m}_i | a, n_a; x).$$
(2.67)

When the ATT condition (2.65) is satisfied, the first term in (2.64) vanishes and the $U(1)_a$ symmetry associated with the fugacity a assigned as above is a symmetry of the theory, since μ_i carries charge +2 and $\mu_{i,C}$ carries charge -2. However, if (2.65) is not satisfied, we set a = 1 and $n_a = 0$ in the above expression of the index.

2.4.1 't Hooft anomalies of the one-form symmetries

Gauging the $SU(2)_H$ and $SU(2)_C$ global symmetries of T(SU(2)) respectively with CS levels k_H and k_C leads to the $\mathbb{Z}_{2,H} \times \mathbb{Z}_{2,C}$ one-form symmetry arising from the centres of $SU(2)_H$ and $SU(2)_C$. The 't Hooft anomaly of such a one-form symmetry is characterised by the following anomaly theory (see [25, (3.62)])

$$\pi \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \left[k_H \frac{\mathcal{P}(w_H^{(2)})}{2} + k_C \frac{\mathcal{P}(w_C^{(2)})}{2} + w_H^{(2)} \cup w_C^{(2)} \right], \qquad (2.68)$$

where $w_{H/C}^{(2)}$ are the two-form background fields for the $\mathbb{Z}_{2,H/C}$ one-form symmetries. The first two terms arise as in (2.11) and the last term comes from (2.60). Upon gauging with the T_2 theory as in (2.61), we have six SU(2) gauge groups but \mathbb{Z}_2^5 one-form symmetry due to the screening effect of the matter of the T_2 theory. The 't Hooft anomalies of the latter are given by

$$\pi \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \left[\sum_{r=1}^2 \sum_{i=1}^3 k_i^{(r)} \frac{\mathcal{P}(B_i^{(r)})}{2} + \sum_{i=1}^3 B_i^{(1)} \cup B_i^{(2)} \right] \quad \text{with } \sum_{i=1}^3 B_i^{(1)} = 0, \qquad (2.69)$$

where $B_i^{(r)}$ is the two-form background field associated with the SU(2) gauge group with CS level $k_i^{(r)}$, with i = 1, 2, 3 and $r = 1, 2.^{14}$ The last constraint comes from (2.12).

2.4.2 Summary of the results

We observe the following result:

For given ratios
$$p_i/q_i$$
 (with $i = 1, 2, 3$), the index (2.67) of theory
(2.61) is independent of specific values of $k_i^{(a_i)}$ in (2.63). (2.70)

As an immediate consequence, the following statement holds:

If
$$p_i/q_i \in \mathbb{Z}$$
 for all $i = 1, 2, 3$, the index (2.67) of theory (2.61)
is equal to the index (2.7) of theory (2.1) with $k_i = p_i/q_i$. (2.71)

We remark that these statements are true, independently of whether the ATT condition (2.65) is satisfied. This means that the aforementioned theories flow to the same interacting SCFT in the IR. This observation may not be a surprise from the geometrical perspective, since both theories are associated with Seifert manifolds that are diffeomorphic to each other. Note that the decoupled topological sectors in the IR may be different, since the anomalous one-form symmetries determined by (2.14) and (2.69) may be different. We have actually seen this phenomenon in Footnote 12.

For simplicity, we examine the indices of the following theory

 $^{^{14}}$ We denote the two-form background fields for the one-form symmetries differently from the other sections in order to avoid cluttered notation.

-							
$k_1^{(1)}$	$k_1^{(2)}$	$\frac{p_1}{q_1}$	k_2	k_3	ATT (2.65)	Index	
-4	-1	-3	6	6	1	(2.27) with $k = 3$	
3	2	$\frac{5}{2}$	-5	-5	1	$1 + (2a^4 - 1)x^2 + (a^6 - a^2 + a^{-2})x^3 +$	
2	-2					$(3a^8 - a^4 - 2)x^4 + \dots$	
3	3	$\frac{8}{3}$	-4	-8	1	$1 + (a^4 - 1)x^2 + a^{-2}x^3 + $	
						$2(a^8-1)x^4+\dots$	()
2	2	$\frac{3}{2}$	-3	-3	1	diverges	(2.73)
1	3	$\frac{2}{3}$	1	1	×	$1 + 0x - x^2 + 2x^3 - 2x^4 + \dots$	
2	2	$\frac{3}{2}$	1	1	×	$1 + 0x - x^2 + 2x^3 - 2x^4 + \dots$	
1	-2						
-2	-2	$-\frac{3}{2}$	1	1	X	1	
1	7	$\frac{6}{7}$	-2	3	X	$1 + 0x + 0x^2 + x^3 - x^4 + \dots$	

with various CS levels as follows.

For reference, we also provide the contribution of zero gauge magnetic fluxes:

$$1 + 0x + (a^4 - 1)x^2 + a^{-2}x^3 + (a^8 - 2)x^4 + \dots$$
(2.74)

The term a^4x^2 indicates that there is one marginal operator coming from the zero gauge flux sector, the term 0x indicates the absence of the $\mathcal{N} = 3$ flavour symmetry current, and so the term $-x^2$ indicates that there is one $\mathcal{N} = 3$ extra SUSY-current. Therefore, when the ATT condition is satisfied, the IR SCFT has enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry. However, when the index diverges, we cannot conclude the IR behaviour from it.

When the ATT condition is not satisfied, there are cases in which the IR SCFTs have enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry; these are explicitly shown in the fifth and sixth rows of table (2.73). This can be deduced by the same reasoning as above. Note that the marginal operator discussed below (2.74) is set to zero in the chiral ring by an *F*-term equation (cf. section 2.3) and so we do not have a positive term at order x^2 . However, in the final row of table (2.73), we find no indication of supersymmetry enhancement from the index, assuming that there is no additional marginal operator. If the index is unity, then the IR theory is a TQFT.

Next, let us report some indices for theory (2.61) with various CS levels such that the ATT condition (2.65) is satisfied:

$k_1^{(1)}$	$k_1^{(2)}$	$\frac{p_1}{q_1}$	$k_2^{(1)}$	$k_2^{(2)}$	$\frac{p_2}{q_2}$	$k_3^{(1)}$	$k_3^{(2)}$	$\frac{p_3}{q_3}$	Index	
-2	1	-3	7	1	6	7	1	6	(2.27) with $k = 3$	(2.75)
-3	1	-4	9	1	8	9	1	8	(2.27) with $k = 4$	(
-4	1	-5	11	1	10	11	1	10	(2.27) with $k = 5$	

These results support the statement (2.71). In all of these cases, the IR interacting SCFT has enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry.

Finally, we observe that if a pair of Seifert fibres with parameters q_i/p_i and \tilde{q}_i/\tilde{p}_i are isomorphic by an orientation-preserving diffeomorphism, namely [57, Prop. 2.1]

1. after possibly permuting indices, $q_i/p_i = \tilde{q}_i/\tilde{p}_i \pmod{1}$ for each *i*, and

2.
$$\sum_i q_i/p_i = \sum_i \widetilde{q}_i/\widetilde{p}_i$$

then the indices of the theories associated with these Seifert fibres are equal. In other words, the corresponding IR SCFTs are the same.

3 Theories with two T_2 building blocks

Let us now couple two copies of the T_2 theory together by gauging a diagonal subgroup of the two $SU(2)_i$ flavour symmetries (with i = 1, 2, 3), belonging to different copies of the T_2 theories, with CS levels k_i . We denote this diagrammatically as

$$T_2 \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} k_1 \\ k_2 \\ k_3 \end{array}}_{k_3} T_2 \tag{3.1}$$

We denote by $\mu_i^{(I)}$, with i = 1, 2, 3 and I = 1, 2, the moment maps of the SU(2)_i flavour symmetry of the *I*-th T_2 theory. Their explicit expression for each *I* is given by (2.3). We also have the analogue of (2.4), namely

$$\operatorname{tr}(\mu_1^{(I)\ 2}) = \operatorname{tr}(\mu_2^{(I)\ 2}) = \operatorname{tr}(\mu_3^{(I)\ 2}) \equiv \operatorname{tr}(\mu^{(I)\ 2})$$
(3.2)

for each I = 1, 2. The effective superpotential after integrating out the adjoint scalar fields is (see [14, (2.16)])

$$W = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{k_1} + \frac{1}{k_2} + \frac{1}{k_3} \right) \left[\operatorname{tr} \left(\mu^{(1) 2} \right) + \operatorname{tr} \left(\mu^{(2) 2} \right) \right] + \sum_{i=1}^3 \frac{1}{k_i} \operatorname{tr} \left(\mu^{(1)}_i \mu^{(2)}_i \right) .$$
(3.3)

When the ATT condition (2.6) is satisfied, the first term vanishes and there is a flavour symmetry that assigns charge +1 to every chiral field of the first T_2 theory and charge -1 to every chiral field of the second T_2 theory. As a consequence, $\mu_i^{(1)}$ and $\mu_i^{(2)}$ carry charges +2 and -2, respectively. We denote by *a* the fugacity associated with this flavour symmetry. We will shortly see that, if the CS levels obey the ATT condition, the flavour symmetry algebra is actually $\mathfrak{su}(2)_a$. On the other hand, if the ATT condition (2.6) is not satisfied, this flavour symmetry is explicitly broken by the first term of the superpotential.

The index for theory (3.1) is given by

$$\mathcal{I}_{(3,1)}(a, n_a; x) = \left(\frac{1}{8} \prod_{i=1}^3 \oint \frac{dz_i}{2\pi i z_i}\right) \sum_{\substack{(m_1, m_2, m_3) \in \mathbb{Z}^3 \\ (m_1, m_2, m_3) \in \mathbb{Z}^3}} \left(\prod_{i=1}^3 z_i^{2k_i m_i} \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{SU}(2)}(z_i; m_i; x)\right) \\
\times \prod_{\substack{s_1, s_2, s_3 = \pm 1 \\ s_1, s_2, s_3 = \pm 1}} \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{1/2}(z_1^{s_1} z_2^{s_2} z_3^{s_3} a; s_1 m_1 + s_2 m_2 + s_3 m_3 + n_a; x) \\
\times \prod_{\substack{s_1', s_2', s_3' = \pm 1 \\ s_1', s_2', s_3' = \pm 1}} \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{1/2}(z_1^{s_1'} z_2^{s_2'} z_3^{s_3'} a^{-1}; s_1' m_1 + s_2' m_2 + s_3' m_3 - n_a; x).$$
(3.4)

As before, we will set $n_a = 0$ and drop n_a from the argument in $\mathcal{I}_{(3.1)}(a, n_a; x)$ when we study the series expansion of the index. For the cases that do not satisfy the ATT condition, a should be set to 1 and n_a should be set to zero.

Without the CS levels, theory (3.1) can be viewed as 3d reduction of the 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ A_1 class \mathcal{S} theory associated with a Riemann surface of genus 2 with no puncture. The one-form symmetry of the latter is $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$; see [61, (3.12)]. With the CS levels turned on, their 't Hooft anomalies are characterised by (2.15) and (2.16).

3.1 Cases that satisfy the ATT condition

We consider theories (3.1) with CS levels satisfying (2.6).

3.1.1 Special case of $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = (-k, 2k, 2k)$

This theory is equivalent to the $USp(2)_{-k} \times Spin(4)_{2k}$ gauge theory with two copies of bifundamental half-hypermultiplets in the representation [2; 4]:



It is indeed closely related to the ABJ theory [10], described by the $USp(2)_{-k} \times O(4)_{2k}$ gauge theory with the same matter content. We can start from the $USp(2)_{-k} \times SO(4)_{2k}$ variant of the theory: gauging the \mathbb{Z}_2 zero-form charge conjugation symmetry associated with the SO(4) gauge group leads to the original ABJ theory, whereas gauging the \mathbb{Z}_2 zero-form magnetic symmetry leads to theory (3.5). This type of arguments was used to studied variants of ABJM [8] and ABJ theories in [35, 36, 52, 62]. The index of the $USp(2)_{-k} \times SO(4)_{2k}$ variant is

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{USp}(2)_{-k} \times \text{SO}(4)_{2k}}(\zeta, a; x) = \frac{1}{8} \sum_{(\mathfrak{m}_{1}, \mathfrak{m}_{2}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{2}} \sum_{\mathfrak{n} \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{2} \oint \frac{dv_{j}}{2\pi i v_{j}} v_{j}^{2k\mathfrak{m}_{j}} \right) \zeta^{\mathfrak{m}_{1}+\mathfrak{m}_{2}} \oint \frac{du}{2\pi i u} u^{-2k\mathfrak{n}} \\
\times \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{SO}(4)}(v_{1}, v_{2}; \mathfrak{m}_{1}, \mathfrak{m}_{2}; x) \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{USp}(2)}(u; \mathfrak{n}; x) \\
\times \prod_{i=1}^{2} \prod_{s_{1}, s_{2}=\pm 1} \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{1/2}(v_{i}^{s_{1}} u^{s_{2}} a; s_{1}\mathfrak{m}_{i} + s_{2}\mathfrak{n}; x) \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{1/2}\left(v_{i}^{s_{1}} u^{s_{2}} a^{-1}; s_{1}\mathfrak{m}_{i} + s_{2}\mathfrak{n}; x\right) .$$
(3.6)

where ζ (with $\zeta^2 = 1$) denotes the fugacity for the \mathbb{Z}_2 zero-form magnetic symmetry and we have set the fugacity χ for the charge conjugation symmetry to 1. The index of (3.5) can be obtained by gauging the magnetic symmetry as follows:

$$\mathcal{I}_{(3.5)}(a;x) = \frac{1}{2} \left[\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{USp}(2)_{-k} \times \mathrm{SO}(4)_{2k}}(\zeta = 1, a; x) + \mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{USp}(2)_{-k} \times \mathrm{SO}(4)_{2k}}(\zeta = -1, a; x) \right] .$$
(3.7)

Let us first consider the index of the $USp(2)_{-k} \times SO(4)_{2k}$ variant of the ABJ theory, or equivalently the $SU(2)_{-k} \times [SU(2)_{2k} \times SU(2)_{2k}]/\mathbb{Z}_2$ theory, where a \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry

CS levels	Index (3.6)	l
(-k, 2k, 2k)		I
k = 1	$1 + \left[1 + \zeta \chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)\right]x + \left[(2 + \zeta) \chi_{[4]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right) + 2 - \chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)\right]x^{2} + $	1
	$\left\{ (1+2\zeta)\chi_{[6]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right) - \left[\zeta\chi_{[4]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right) + (3+2\zeta)\chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right) + \zeta \right] \right\} x^{3} + $	1
	$\left\{ (3+2\zeta)\chi^{\mathfrak{{su}}(2)}_{[8]}\left(a\right) + 3(1+\zeta)\chi^{\mathfrak{{su}}(2)}_{[2]}\left(a\right) + 1 + 2\zeta - \right.$	1
	$\left[(2+\zeta)\chi_{[6]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right) + (1+\zeta)\chi_{[4]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right) \right] \right\} x^{4} + \dots$	1
k = 2	$1 + x + \left[(1+\zeta)\chi^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}_{[4]}\left(a\right) + 2 - \chi^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}_{[2]}\left(a\right) \right] x^{2} +$	(3.3
	$\Big[\zeta \chi^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}_{[6]} \left(a \right) + 2 - (2 + \zeta) \chi^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}_{[2]} \left(a \right) \Big] x^3 +$	(0.1
	$\left\{ (2+\zeta)\chi_{[8]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a) + 2 - \left[(1+\zeta)\chi_{[6]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a) + \zeta\chi_{[4]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a) + \zeta\chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a) \right] \right\} x^4 + \dots$	1
k = 3	$1 + x + \left[\chi_{[4]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right) + 2 - \chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)\right]x^{2} + \left[\zeta\chi_{[6]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right) + 2 - 2\chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)\right]x^{3} + $	1
	$\left\{ (1+\zeta)\chi_{[8]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right) + 2 - \left[\chi_{[6]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right) + \zeta\chi_{[4]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)\right] \right\} x^{4} + \dots$	1
k = 4	$1 + x + \left[\chi_{[4]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right) + 2 - \chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)\right] x^{2} + 2\left[1 - \chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)\right] x^{3} + $	1
	$\left\{ (1+\zeta)\chi_{[8]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a) + 2 - \chi_{[6]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a) \right\} x^4 + \dots$	1

of (3.1) is gauged. We tabulate the results, up to order x^4 , below.

For $k \geq 5$, the terms with fugacity ζ appear at a higher order than x^4 . The index of the case of k = 1 was studied in [35, (3.80)], where it was pointed out that the USp(2)₋₁ × SO(4)₂ ABJ theory is dual to another variant of the ABJ theory, namely the $[U(3)_4 \times U(1)_{-4}]/\mathbb{Z}_2$ gauge theory with two bifundamental hypermultiplets, whose IR SCFT has **enhanced** $\mathcal{N} = 6$ **supersymmetry**. The indices for the cases of $k \geq 2$ indicate that supersymmetry gets **enhanced to** $\mathcal{N} = 5$. This can be seen as follows. All of such indices have the coefficient of x equal to 1 indicating that there is one $\mathcal{N} = 3$ flavour current, but since there is the term $-\chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a) = -(a^2 + 1 + a^{-2})$ at order x^2 , the term -1 corresponds to the $\mathcal{N} = 3$ flavour current and the terms $-a^2$ and $-a^{-2}$ correspond to the $\mathcal{N} = 3$ extra SUSY-currents, rendering supersymmetry enhancement from $\mathcal{N} = 3$ to $\mathcal{N} = 5$.

Now we report the index of theory (3.1) with CS levels (-k, 2k, 2k), or equivalently (3.5), given by $\mathcal{I}_{(3.5)}(a; x)$ up to order x^4 below.

CS levels	Index $\mathcal{I}_{(3.5)}(a;x)$	
(-k,2k,2k)		
k = 1	$1 + x + \Big\{ 2\Big[\chi^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}_{[4]}\left(a\right) + 1\Big] - \chi^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}_{[2]}\left(a\right) \Big\} x^2 + \Big[\chi^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}_{[6]}\left(a\right) - 3\chi^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}_{[2]}\left(a\right) \Big] x^3 + \Big[\chi^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}_{[6]}\left(a\right) - 3\chi^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}_{[2]}\left(a\right) \Big] x^3 + \Big[\chi^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}_{[6]}\left(a\right) - 3\chi^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}_{[6]}\left(a\right) - 3\chi^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}_{[6]}\left(a\right) - 3\chi^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}$	
	$\left\{3\left[\chi_{[8]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)+\chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)\right]+1-\left[2\chi_{[6]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)+\chi_{[4]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)\right]\right\}x^{4}+\ldots$	
k = 2	$1 + x + \left[\chi_{[4]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right) + 2 - \chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)\right]x^{2} + 2\left[1 - \chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)\right]x^{3} + \frac{1}{2}\left[1 - \chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)\right]x^{3} +$	(3.9)
	$\left\{2\left[\chi_{[8]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)+1\right]-\chi_{[6]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)\right\}x^{4}+\ldots$	
$k \ge 3$	$1 + x + \left[\chi_{[4]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right) + 2 - \chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)\right]x^{2} +$	
	$2\left[1-\chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)\right]x^{3}+\left[\chi_{[8]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)+2-\chi_{[6]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}\left(a\right)\right]x^{4}+\ldots$	

For $k \geq 3$ the indices differ from each other at a higher order than x^4 . By the same reasoning as before, the indices indicate that the IR SCFT has enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 5$ supersymmetry.

The 't Hooft anomalies of the one-form symmetry of these theories are as presented in (2.30). For k odd, theory (3.1) with CS levels (-k, 2k, 2k) or equivalently (3.5) flows to an interacting $\mathcal{N} = 5$ SCFT with a non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry, along with the TQFT $\mathcal{A}^{2,1}$.¹⁵ For k even, the theory flows to an interacting $\mathcal{N} = 5$ SCFT that has a \mathbb{Z}_2^2 one-form symmetry and there is no decoupled topological sector.

The above indices receive the contributions of the gauge invariant dressed monopole operators, whose properties are similar to that discussed around (2.28). Explicitly, the bare monopole operator with magnetic fluxes (m_1, m_2, m_3) has dimension

$$\Delta(m_1, m_2, m_3) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{s_1, s_2, s_3 = \pm 1} \left| \sum_{i=1}^3 s_i m_i \right| - \sum_{i=1}^3 2|m_i|, \qquad (3.10)$$

is neutral under the flavour symmetry and it carries charge $2k_im_i$ under the Cartan subalgebra of each $SU(2)_i$ gauge factor.

We can compute the Coulomb branch and Higgs branch limits of the index as in (2.37). We find that they are equal, as expected for SCFTs with $N \geq 5$ supersymmetry. In particular, we have

Higgs limit
$$(3.1)_{(-k,2k,2k)} =$$
Coulomb limit $(3.1)_{(-k,2k,2k)}$
= PE $\left[t^2 + t^{2k} + t^{2k+1} - t^{4k+2}\right]$, with $t = h$ or c . (3.11)

This is the Hilbert series of $\mathbb{C}^2/\widehat{D}_{2k+2}$, indicating that the Higgs and Coulomb branches are isomorphic to this singularity. The generators of the Higgs branch are

$$w = \operatorname{tr}(\mu^{(1)\,2}), \quad v = X_{(2,1,1)} \left(Q^{(1)}\right)^{4k}, \quad u = X_{(2,1,1)} \left(Q^{(1)}\right)^{4k-4} \mu_1^{(1)} \mu_2^{(1)} \mu_3^{(1)}, \quad (3.12)$$

satisfying the relation

$$u^2 + v^2 w = w^{2k+1}. (3.13)$$

The generators of the Coulomb branch can be obtained simply by replacing the superscript (1) by (2). Note that the generators u and v are the bare monopole operator $X_{(2,1,1)}$, whose dimension is zero, dressed by appropriate chiral fields from each copy of T_2 such that the combinations become gauge invariant. Indeed, from (3.9), we see that the dressed monopoles that are related to v contribute the term $\chi_{[4k]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a)x^{2k}$ to the index.

We can also examine the $USp(2)_{-k} \times SO(4)_{2k}$ version of the ABJ theory, or equivalently $SU(2)_{-k} \times [SU(2)_{2k} \times SU(2)_{2k}]/\mathbb{Z}_2$, which comes from gauging a non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 subgroup of the \mathbb{Z}_2^2 one-form symmetry of the aforementioned theory. In this case, we have

Higgs limit
$$(3.1)_{(-k,2k,2k)}/\mathbb{Z}_2^{[1]} = \text{Coulomb limit } (3.1)_{(-k,2k,2k)}/\mathbb{Z}_2^{[1]}$$

= $\text{PE}\left[t^2 + t^k + t^{k+1} - t^{2k+2}\right]$, with $t = h$ or c . (3.14)

¹⁵For k odd, we can infer from (2.31) that the $USp(2)_{-k} \times SO(4)_{2k}$ theory does not admit a \mathbb{Z}_2 quotient. This means that, for k odd, the non-anomalous one-form symmetry of the $USp(2)_{-k} \times Spin(4)_{2k}$ is \mathbb{Z}_2 , which we can gauge in order to obtain the $USp(2)_{-k} \times SO(4)_{2k}$ theory, and there is no further \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry that we can gauge in the latter.

This is the Hilbert series of $\mathbb{C}^2/\widehat{D}_{k+2}$. The generators of the Higgs branch are

$$w = \operatorname{tr}(\mu^{(1)\,2}), \quad v = X_{\left(1,\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)} \left(Q^{(1)}\right)^{2k}, \quad u = X_{\left(1,\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)} \left(Q^{(1)}\right)^{2k-4} \mu_1^{(1)} \mu_2^{(1)} \mu_3^{(1)}, \quad (3.15)$$

satisfying the relation

$$u^2 + v^2 w = w^{k+1} \,. \tag{3.16}$$

Again, the Coulomb branch generators can be obtained by replacing the superscript (1) by (2). From (3.8), we see that the dressed monopoles that are related to v contribute the term $\zeta \chi_{[2k]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a)x^k$ to the index. This explains why, when $k \geq 5$, the contribution from the dressed monopole operators appears at a higher order than x^4 . In particular, for k = 1, these operators are related to $\mathcal{N} = 3$ flavour currents that are necessary for the enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 6$ supersymmetry in the IR.

3.1.2 General results for $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = k(\mathfrak{pq}, -\mathfrak{pr}, -\mathfrak{qr})$ with $\mathfrak{r} = \mathfrak{p} + \mathfrak{q}$

We consider the CS levels (2.44) for the theories formed by gauging two copies of the T_2 theory. The information about the one-form symmetries and their 't Hooft anomalies are as tabulated in (2.46).

Let us now consider the index (3.4). The contribution from flux $(m_1, m_2, m_3) = (0, 0, 0)$, up to order x^4 , reads

$$1 + x + \left[\chi_{[4]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a) + 2 - \chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a)\right] x^{2} + 2\left[1 - \chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a)\right] x^{3} + \left[\chi_{[8]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a) + 2 - \chi_{[6]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a)\right] x^{4} + \dots$$
(3.17)

The term at order x is the contribution from

$$\epsilon^{\alpha_1\alpha_1'}\epsilon^{\alpha_2\alpha_2'}\epsilon^{\alpha_3\alpha_3'}Q^{(1)}_{\alpha_1\alpha_2\alpha_3}Q^{(2)}_{\alpha_1'\alpha_2'\alpha_3'}.$$
(3.18)

This is the moment map operator associated with the U(1) $\mathcal{N} = 3$ flavour symmetry current. The marginal operators contributing the positive terms, namely $\chi_{[4]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a) + 2$, at order x^2 are

$$Q^{((I_1)}Q^{(I_2)}Q^{(I_3)}Q^{(I_4))_S}, \quad \operatorname{tr}(\mu_1^{(1)}\mu_1^{(2)}), \quad \operatorname{tr}(\mu_2^{(1)}\mu_2^{(2)}), \quad (3.19)$$

where $\operatorname{tr}(\mu_3^{(1)}\mu_3^{(2)})$ can be written as a linear combination of the latter two due to the *F*-terms. Also, in the first quantities, the contractions of gauge indices, which we have suppressed, are done in such a way that $I_1, \ldots I_4$ are completely symmetric; the latter is denoted by $()_S$. Note also that the first quantities contain $\operatorname{tr}(\mu^{(1)\,2})$ and $\operatorname{tr}(\mu^{(2)\,2})$.

There is also a contribution from eight gauge fluxes $(m_1, m_2, m_3) = (\pm \mathfrak{r}, \pm \mathfrak{q}, \pm \mathfrak{p})$ corresponding to the gauge-invariant dressed monopole operators. According to the discussion around (3.10), the bare monopoles associated with these fluxes have dimension 0, are neutral under the flavour symmetry, and the charges under the Cartan subalgebra of each $\mathrm{SU}(2)_i$ are $2k\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{r}(\pm 1, \mp 1, \mp 1)$. They have to be dressed with $2k\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{r}$ chiral fields from each copy of T_2 , or to form gauge invariant quantities. The gauge invariant dressed monopole operators therefore contribute to the index as $\chi^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}_{[2k\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{r}]}(a)x^{k\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{r}}$. If $k\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{r}$ is sufficiently large, the index at sufficiently low order does not get affected by these operators. In any case, using the same argument as above, we see from (3.17) that the SCFT in the IR has enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 5$ supersymmetry, regardless of the contribution of the dressed monopole operators.

3.1.3 Higgs and Coulomb branches

For the theories discussed in section 3.1.2, the Higgs and Coulomb branch limits of the index are both equal to the Hilbert series of $\mathbb{C}^2/\widehat{D}_{K+2}$, namely

$$\operatorname{PE}\left[t^{2} + t^{K} + t^{K+1} - t^{2K+2}\right], \quad K = \operatorname{\mathfrak{pqr}} k, \ t = h \text{ or } c.$$
(3.20)

The generators of the Higgs or Coulomb branch are

$$w = \operatorname{tr}(\mu^{(I)\,2}), \quad v = X_{(\mathfrak{r},\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{p})}(Q^{(I)})^{2\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{r}k}, \quad u = X_{(\mathfrak{r},\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{p})}(Q^{(I)})^{2\mathfrak{p}\mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{r}k-4}\mu_1^{(I)}\mu_2^{(I)}\mu_3^{(I)}, \quad (3.21)$$

with I = 1 or 2. They satisfy the relation

$$u^2 + v^2 w = w^{K+1} \,. \tag{3.22}$$

3.2 Cases that do not satisfy the ATT condition

From the effective superpotential (3.3), we see that the first term can be viewed as an $\mathcal{N} = 3$ preserving exactly marginal deformation of the $\mathcal{N} = 5$ theory whose superpotential contains only the second term. The index of the latter, excluding the contribution from the dressed monopoles, is given by (3.17), which indeed indicates $\mathcal{N} = 5$ supersymmetry. The aforementioned exactly marginal deformation explicitly breaks the $\mathfrak{su}(2)_a$ flavour symmetry, corresponding to the term $-\chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a) x^2$ in the index, to its Cartan subalgebra. The latter can be seen from the term +x of the index which indicates that the $\mathcal{N} = 3$ flavour symmetry is U(1).¹⁶ From the index (3.17) with a = 1, we have

$$1 + x + (5 - 1)x^2 - 4x^3 + 4x^4 + \dots, (3.23)$$

where we see that 7 marginal operators as listed in (3.19) get reduced to 5 due to the two *F*-term relations coming from the non-vanishing first term in the superpotential (3.3). Indeed this is due to the terms a^2 and a^{-2} in the term $-\chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(a) x^2$ being set to 1. In general, we expect that the cases that do not satisfy the ATT condition have $\mathcal{N} = 3$ supersymmetry. Although we have not taken into account the contributions of the dressed monopole operators, we do not expect the latter to make supersymmetry enhanced.

Nevertheless, the dressed monopole operators can make the *flavour symmetry* enhanced. An example is the case of CS levels $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = (-1, 1, 1)$, whose index is

$$1 + 3x + (9 - 3)x^2 - 7x^3 + 16x^4 + \dots$$
(3.24)

The contributions to 3x come from (3.18), along with the dressed monopole operators $X_{(1,1,0)}Q^{(1)}Q^{(2)}$ and $X_{(1,0,1)}Q^{(1)}Q^{(2)}$. We propose that these form a triplet of the *enhanced* SO(3) *flavour symmetry* which is indeed the moment map of this symmetry. For convenience,

¹⁶To see the action of this symmetry, we view the moment maps $\mu^{(I)}$ as 2 × 2 symmetric matrices $\mu^{(I)} = \begin{pmatrix} a^{(I)} b^{(I)} \\ b^{(I)} c^{(I)} \end{pmatrix}$. Under this U(1) symmetry, the elements $a^{(I)}$ and $c^{(I)}$ carry charges +1 and -1 respectively, whereas $b^{(I)}$ carry charge 0. Indeed, the terms $\operatorname{tr}(\mu^{(I)\,2}) = 2a^{(I)}c^{(I)} - 2b^{(I)\,2}$ and $\operatorname{tr}(\mu^{(1)}\mu^{(2)}) = a^{(2)}c^{(1)} + a^{(1)}c^{(2)} - 2b^{(1)}b^{(2)}$ in the superpotential are neutral under this flavour symmetry, as it should be.

let denote by b the fugacity of this SO(3) flavour symmetry, and so the term 3x can be rewritten as $\chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(b)x$. Note that the square of such dressed monopole operators contribute to the index at order x^2 ; therefore, the term $(9-3)x^2$ can be rewritten as $\left[\chi_{[4]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(b) + 4 - \chi_{[2]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(b)\right]x^2$. The term $b^0 = 1$ in $\chi_{[4]}^{\mathfrak{su}(2)}(b)$, together with +4, accounts for the 5 marginal operators, as mentioned above; the remaining positive terms are marginal operators that are dressed monopole operators. We do not see any contribution of the $\mathcal{N} = 3$ extra SUSY-current, and so we conclude that the theory has $\mathcal{N} = 3$ supersymmetry.

3.3 Gluing with T(SU(2)) theories

Let us consider gauging with the T(SU(2)) theories in a similar fashion to the theories discussed in section 2.4. In particular, we focus on the following class of theories:

where S stands for the T(SU(2)) theory. The $SU(2)_i$ global symmetry left T_2 theory is diagonally gauged with the $SU(2)_C$ symmetry of the *i*-th copy of the T(SU(2)) theory with CS level $k_i^{(1)}$ (with i = 1, 2, 3), and the $SU(2)_i$ global symmetry right T_2 theory is diagonally gauged with the $SU(2)_H$ symmetry of the *i*-th copy of the T(SU(2)) theory with CS level $k_i^{(2)}$. The analogue of the ATT condition (2.65) is the following [14]:

$$\frac{q_1}{p_1} + \frac{q_2}{p_2} + \frac{q_3}{p_3} = 0, \qquad \frac{q_1'}{p_1} + \frac{q_2'}{p_2} + \frac{q_3'}{p_3} = 0, \qquad (3.26)$$

where

$$\frac{p_i}{q_i} = k_i^{(1)} - \frac{1}{k_i^{(2)}}, \qquad \frac{p_i}{q_i'} = k_i^{(2)} - \frac{1}{k_i^{(1)}}.$$
(3.27)

For convenience, we will also refer to (3.26) as the ATT conditions. The index of these theories is given by the following expression:

$$\mathcal{I}_{(3.25)}(a, n_a; x) = \left(\frac{1}{8}\prod_{i=1}^{3} \oint \frac{dz_i}{2\pi i z_i}\right) \sum_{(m_1, \cdots, m_3) \in \mathbb{Z}^3} \left(\frac{1}{8}\prod_{i=1}^{3} \oint \frac{df_i}{2\pi i f_i}\right) \sum_{(\widehat{m}_1, \cdots, \widehat{m}_3) \in \mathbb{Z}^3} \\
\times \left(\prod_{i=1}^{3} z_i^{2k_i^{(1)}m_i} \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{SU}(2)}(z_i; m_i; x)\right) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{3} f_i^{2k_i^{(2)}\widehat{m}_i} \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{SU}(2)}(f_i; \widehat{m}_i; x)\right) \\
\times \prod_{s_1, s_2, s_3 = \pm 1} \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{1/2}(z_1^{s_1} z_2^{s_2} z_3^{s_3} a; s_1 m_1 + s_2 m_2 + s_3 m_3 + n_a; x) \\
\times \prod_{s_1, s_2, s_3 = \pm 1} \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{1/2}(z_1^{s_1} z_2^{s_2} z_3^{s_3} a^{-1}; s_1 m_1 + s_2 m_2 + s_3 m_3 - n_a; x) \\
\times \prod_{i=1}^{3} \mathcal{I}_{T(\text{SU}(2))}(z_i, m_i | f_i, \widehat{m}_i | a, n_a; x).$$
(3.28)

As before, when both conditions in (3.26) are satisfied, there is a flavour symmetry that assigns charge +1 to the chiral fields of the first copy of the T_2 theory, charge -2 to the Coulomb branch moment map of T(SU(2)), +2 to the Higgs branch moment map of T(SU(2)), and charge -1 to the chiral fields of the second copy of the T_2 theory. If one of the conditions in (3.26) is not satisfied, this symmetry is explicitly broken and we should set a = 1 and $n_a = 0$ in the above expression.

't Hooft anomalies of the one-form symmetries. Similarly to (2.69), here we have six SU(2) gauge groups but \mathbb{Z}_2^4 one-form symmetry due to the screening effect of the matter of two copies of the T_2 theory. The 't Hooft anomalies are characterised by

$$\pi \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \left[\sum_{r=1}^2 \sum_{i=1}^3 k_i^{(r)} \frac{\mathcal{P}(B_i^{(r)})}{2} + \sum_{i=1}^3 B_i^{(1)} \cup B_i^{(2)} \right]$$
with $\sum_{i=1}^3 B_i^{(1)} = \sum_{i=1}^3 B_i^{(2)} = 0$,
(3.29)

where $B_i^{(r)}$ is the two-form background field associated with the SU(2) gauge group with CS level $k_i^{(r)}$, with i = 1, 2, 3 and r = 1, 2. The last constraint comes from (2.12).

Summary of the results. For simplicity, we focus on the following theories

with various CS levels. We find the following results:

- When both conditions in (3.26) are satisfied, IR SCFT always has enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry.
- When either of the conditions (3.26) is not satisfied, we generally do not find an indication of supersymmetry enhancement from the index.

We report the indices as follows.

$k_1^{(1)}$	$k_1^{(2)}$	$\frac{p_1}{q_1}, \frac{p_1}{q_1'}$	k_2	k_3	(3.26)	Index	
2	2	$\frac{3}{2}, \frac{3}{2}$	-1	3	11	$1 + (a^4 + a^{-4} + 2 - 1)x^2 - (2a^2 + 2a^{-2})x^3 +$	
						$(2a^8 + 2a^{-8} - 1)x^4 + \dots$	
2	2	$\frac{3}{2}, \frac{3}{2}$	-3	-3	11	$1 + (a^4 + a^{-4} + 2 - 1)x^2 + (a^6 - 2a^2 - 2a^{-2} + a^{-6})x^3 +$	(3.31)
						$(2a^8 - a^4 - 2 - a^{-4} + 2a^{-8})x^4 + \dots$	(0.01
1	-1	2, -2	1	1	хx	$1 + 0x + 3x^2 - 4x^3 + 3x^4 + \dots$	
-2	-1	$-1, -\frac{1}{2}$	1	1	X V	$1 + x + 4x^2 - 4x^3 + 13x^4 + \dots$	
-2	-1	$-1, -\frac{1}{2}$	2	2	√ X	$1 + 0x + 4x^2 - 3x^3 + 3x^4 + \dots$	

Let us first consider the cases in which both conditions in (3.26) are satisfied. The contribution of the gauge fluxes that are all zero is

$$1 + 0x + (a^4 + a^{-4} + 2 - 1)x^2 - (2a^2 + 2a^{-2})x^3 + (a^8 + a^{-8})x^4 + \dots$$
(3.32)

Comparing with the first two rows in the above table, we see that the contributions of the higher monopole fluxes generally appear at higher order of x. Since the coefficient of x vanishes, there is no $\mathcal{N} = 3$ flavour current. The current associated with the U(1)_a flavour symmetry, contributing the term $-x^2$, acts as the $\mathcal{N} = 3$ extra-SUSY current. The latter implies that the IR SCFTs have **enhanced** $\mathcal{N} = 4$ **supersymmetry**. Due to the vanishing coefficient of x, the index does not satisfy the sufficient conditions to have $\mathcal{N} \geq 5$ supersymmetry [50]. The marginal operators contributing the terms $a^4 + a^{-4} + 2$ at order x^2 are

$$a^{\pm 4}: \quad \epsilon^{a_1b_1} \epsilon^{c_1d_1} \epsilon^{a_2c_2} \epsilon^{b_2d_2} \epsilon^{a_3c_3} \epsilon^{b_3d_3} Q^{(I)}_{a_1a_2a_3} Q^{(I)}_{b_1b_2b_3} Q^{(I)}_{c_1c_2c_3} Q^{(I)}_{d_1d_2d_3} , \quad I = 1, 2,$$

$$1: \quad \epsilon^{a_1b_1} \epsilon^{\widehat{c}_1\widehat{d}_1} \epsilon^{a_2c_2} \epsilon^{b_2d_2} \epsilon^{a_3c_3} \epsilon^{b_3d_3} Q^{(1)}_{a_1a_2a_3} Q^{(1)}_{b_1b_2b_3} Q^{(2)}_{\widehat{c}_1c_2c_3} Q^{(2)}_{\widehat{d}_1d_2d_3} , \qquad (3.33)$$

$$1: \quad \epsilon^{a_1b_1} \epsilon^{\widehat{c}_1\widehat{d}_1} \epsilon^{a_2c_2} \epsilon^{b_2d_2} \epsilon^{a_3d_3} \epsilon^{b_3c_3} Q^{(1)}_{a_1a_2a_3} Q^{(1)}_{b_1b_2b_3} Q^{(2)}_{\widehat{c}_1c_2c_3} Q^{(2)}_{\widehat{d}_1d_2d_3} .$$

The other gauge invariant combinations with R-charge 2 are related to these combinations by the identities of the epsilon tensors or the F-term conditions.

However, in the cases in which one or both of the conditions (3.26) is not satisfied, the $U(1)_a$ flavour symmetry is explicitly broken, and so the marginal operators listed in (3.33) may be related to each other by the *F*-terms (cf. sections 2.3 and 3.2). In these cases, we do not see clear evidence of supersymmetry enhancement from the index.

4 Theories with T_3 building blocks

We now consider theories whose building blocks are the 3d T_3 theory. Let us start by summarising the important information of the T(SU(3)) and T_3 theories. The T(SU(3))theory has an $SU(3)_H \times SU(3)_C$ global symmetry with a mixed anomaly characterised by

$$\frac{2\pi}{3} \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} w_2^H \cup w_2^C \,, \tag{4.1}$$

where $w_2^{H/C}$ is the second Stiefel-Whitney class which measures the obstruction to lifting the $(SU(3)/\mathbb{Z}_3)_{H/C}$ bundle to the $SU(3)_{H/C}$ bundle. The 3d $\mathcal{N} = 4 T_3$ theory can then be constructed by gauging the diagonal $SU(3)/\mathbb{Z}_3$ subgroup of the $SU(3)_H^3$ symmetry coming from three copies of the T(SU(3)) theory. Note that the $SU(3)_C^3$ manifest flavour symmetry of the T_3 theory gets enhanced to E_6 in the IR. The moment map in the adjoint representation of E_6 can be decomposed into fields in representations of the $SU(3)^3$ maximal subgroup as follows:

They satisfy the following relations (see [63, section 2.2] and [64, section 5.3]):

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{tr}_{1}(X^{2}) &= \operatorname{tr}_{2}(Y^{2}) = \operatorname{tr}_{3}(Z^{2}) \equiv \mathbb{M}_{2} \,, \\ \operatorname{tr}_{1}(X^{3}) &= \operatorname{tr}_{2}(Y^{3}) = \operatorname{tr}_{3}(Z^{3}) \equiv \mathbb{M}_{3} \,, \\ X_{j_{1}}^{i_{1}}\mathcal{Q}^{j_{1}i_{2}i_{3}} &= Y_{j_{2}}^{i_{2}}\mathcal{Q}^{i_{1}j_{2}i_{3}} = Z_{j_{3}}^{i_{3}}\mathcal{Q}^{i_{1}i_{2}j_{3}} \,, \\ X_{i_{1}}^{j_{1}}\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{j_{1}i_{2}i_{3}} &= Y_{i_{2}}^{j_{2}}\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{i_{1}j_{2}i_{3}} = Z_{i_{3}}^{j_{3}}\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}^{i_{1}i_{2}j_{3}} \,, \\ \mathcal{Q}^{i_{1}i_{2}i_{3}}\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{j_{1}j_{2}i_{3}} &= \sum_{l=0}^{3} v_{l} \sum_{m=0}^{2^{-l}} (X^{2^{-l-m}})_{j_{1}}^{i_{1}}(Y^{m})_{j_{2}}^{i_{2}} \,, \quad v_{0} = 1 \,, \, v_{1} = 0 \,, \, (X^{0})_{j}^{i} = (Y^{0})_{j}^{i} = \delta_{j}^{i} \,, \\ \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{Q}^{i_{1}i_{2}i_{3}}\mathcal{Q}^{j_{1}j_{2}j_{3}}\epsilon_{i_{2}j_{2}k_{2}}\epsilon_{i_{3}j_{3}k_{3}} = \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{k_{1}k_{2}k_{3}}\delta_{p_{1}}^{p_{1}}X_{q_{1}}^{q_{1}}\epsilon_{p_{1}q_{1}k_{1}} \,, \\ \frac{1}{2}\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{i_{1}i_{2}i_{3}}\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{j_{1}j_{2}j_{3}}\epsilon^{i_{2}j_{2}k_{2}}\epsilon^{i_{3}j_{3}k_{3}} = \mathcal{Q}^{k_{1}k_{2}k_{3}}\delta_{i_{1}}^{p_{1}}X_{j_{1}}^{q_{1}}\epsilon_{p_{1}q_{1}k_{1}} \,, \end{aligned}$$

where tr_i denotes the trace over the fundamental representation of the $SU(3)_i$ symmetry (with i = 1, 2, 3) of the T_3 theory.

4.1 One T_3 building block

The theory of our interest is obtained by gauging each $SU(3)_C$ factor of the $SU(3)_C^3$ symmetry with CS levels k_1 , k_2 and k_3 . Similarly to (2.1), we denote this theory by



't Hooft anomalies of the one-form symmetry. Since the faithful manifest flavour symmetry of the T_3 theory is $SU(3)^3/(\mathbb{Z}_3 \times \mathbb{Z}_3)$ [45, (4.40)], it follows that theory (4.4) has a \mathbb{Z}_3^2 one-form symmetry. The 't Hooft anomaly of the one-form symmetry in theory (4.4) with CS levels (k_1, k_2, k_3) is characterised by the 4d anomaly theory whose action is [46]

$$\frac{2\pi}{3} \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \sum_{i=1}^3 k_i \frac{\mathcal{P}(w_i^{(2)})}{2}, \quad \text{with} \quad \sum_{i=1}^3 w_i^{(2)} = 0, \qquad (4.5)$$

where $w_i^{(2)}$ is the two-form background field for the \mathbb{Z}_3 one-form symmetry arising from the $SU(3)_i$ gauge group of (4.4).

Superconformal indices. The index of the T(SU(3)) theory is given by

$$\mathcal{I}_{T(\mathrm{SU}(3))}(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{n} | \boldsymbol{f}, \boldsymbol{m} | \boldsymbol{a}, n_{a}; \boldsymbol{x}) = \frac{1}{2!} \sum_{h \in \mathbb{Z} + \epsilon(\boldsymbol{m})} \oint \frac{du}{2\pi i u} w_{1}^{h} u^{n_{1}} \sum_{l_{1}, l_{2} \in \mathbb{Z} + \epsilon(\boldsymbol{m})} \oint \left(\prod_{\alpha=1}^{2} \frac{dz_{\alpha}}{2\pi i z_{\alpha}} z_{\alpha}^{n_{2}} \right) w_{2}^{l_{1}+l_{2}} \\
\times \mathcal{Z}_{\mathrm{vec}}^{\mathrm{U}(2)}(\{z_{1}, z_{2}\}; \{l_{1}, l_{2}\}; \boldsymbol{x}) \times \prod_{\alpha=1}^{2} \prod_{s=\pm 1} \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(a(uz_{\alpha}^{-1})^{s}; s(h - l_{\alpha}) + n_{a}; \boldsymbol{x} \right) \\
\times \prod_{i=1}^{3} \prod_{\alpha=1}^{2} \prod_{s=\pm 1} \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(a(z_{\alpha}f_{i}^{-1})^{s}; s(l_{\alpha} - m_{i}) + n_{a}; \boldsymbol{x} \right),$$
(4.6)

where $(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{n})$, $(\boldsymbol{f}, \boldsymbol{m})$ and (a, n_a) are (fugacities, background fluxes) for the topological, flavour, and axial symmetries respectively. In the above, $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{m})$ denotes the fractional part of the background fluxes m_i . The U(N) vector multiplet contribution is

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{U}(N)}(\boldsymbol{z};\boldsymbol{n};\boldsymbol{x}) = x^{-\sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} |n_i - n_j|} \prod_{1 \le i \ne j \le N} (1 - (-1)^{n_i - n_j} x^{|n_i - n_j|} z_i z_j^{-1}).$$
(4.7)

Note that the index of the T(SU(3)) theory is invariant under the mirror symmetry in the following sense:

$$\widehat{\mathcal{I}}_{T(\mathrm{SU}(3))}(\{w_1; w_2\}, \{n_1, n_2\} | \{f_1, f_2\}, \{m_1, m_2\} | a, n_a; x)
= \widehat{\mathcal{I}}_{T(\mathrm{SU}(3))}(\{f_1, f_2\}, \{m_1; m_2\} | \{w_1, w_2\}, \{n_1, n_2\} | a^{-1}, -n_a; x),$$
(4.8)

where we have defined

$$\widehat{\mathcal{I}}_{T(\mathrm{SU}(3))}(\{w_1, w_2\}, \{n_1; n_2\} | \{f_1, f_2\}, \{m_1, m_2\} | a, n_a; x)
:= \mathcal{I}_{T(\mathrm{SU}(3))}(\{w_1 w_2^{-1}, w_1^{-2} w_2^{-1}\}, \{n_1 - n_2, -2n_1 - n_2\} |
\{f_1, f_2, f_1^{-1} f_2^{-1}\}, \{m_1, m_2, -m_1 - m_2\} | a, n_a; x).$$
(4.9)

The index of the T_3 theory is therefore

$$\mathcal{I}_{T_{3}}(\boldsymbol{w}^{(1)}, \boldsymbol{n}^{(1)} | \boldsymbol{w}^{(2)}, \boldsymbol{n}^{(2)} | \boldsymbol{w}^{(3)}, \boldsymbol{n}^{(3)} | \boldsymbol{a}, \boldsymbol{n}_{a}; \boldsymbol{x}) \\
= \frac{1}{3!} \sum_{r=0}^{2} \sum_{m_{1}, m_{2} \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{r}{3}} \oint \left(\prod_{\alpha=1}^{2} \frac{df_{\alpha}}{2\pi i f_{\alpha}} \right) \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{SU}(3)}(\boldsymbol{f}; \boldsymbol{m}; \boldsymbol{x}) \\
\times \prod_{I=1}^{3} \widehat{\mathcal{I}}_{T(\text{SU}(3))}(\boldsymbol{w}^{(I)}, \boldsymbol{n}^{(I)} | \boldsymbol{f}, \boldsymbol{m} | \boldsymbol{a}, \boldsymbol{n}_{a}; \boldsymbol{x}),$$
(4.10)

where the
$$SU(3)$$
 vector multiplet contribution is given by

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{SU}(3)}\left(\{z_1, z_2\}; \{n_1, n_2\}; x\right) = \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{U}(3)}\left(\{z_1, z_2, z_1^{-1} z_2^{-1}\}; \{n_1, n_2, -n_1 - n_2\}; x\right).$$
(4.11)

The index of the theory of our interest (4.4) is then

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{(4,4)}(a, n_a; x) &= \frac{1}{(3!)^3} \prod_{i=1}^3 \sum_{n_1^{(i)}, n_2^{(i)} \in \mathbb{Z}} \oint \frac{dw_1^{(i)}}{2\pi w_1^{(i)}} \frac{dw_2^{(i)}}{2\pi w_2^{(i)}} (w_1^{(i)})^{k_i (2n_1^{(i)} + n_2^{(i)})} (w_2^{(i)})^{k_i (n_1^{(i)} + 2n_2^{(i)})} \\ &\times \left[\prod_{i=1}^3 \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{SU}(3)} \left(\boldsymbol{w}^{(i)}; \boldsymbol{n}^{(i)}; x \right) \right] \times \mathcal{I}_{T_3}(\boldsymbol{w}^{(1)}, \boldsymbol{n}^{(1)} | \boldsymbol{w}^{(2)}, \boldsymbol{n}^{(2)} | \boldsymbol{w}^{(3)}, \boldsymbol{n}^{(3)} | a, n_a; x) \,. \end{aligned}$$
(4.12)

As before, if the ATT condition (2.6) is not satisfied, we set a = 1 and $n_a = 0$.

Due to the technicality of the computation, let us discuss the results only in certain cases. We first focus on the theories that satisfy the ATT condition and we set $n_a = 0$. The contribution from the fluxes $n_1^{(i)}, n_2^{(i)} = 0$ for all i = 1, 2, 3 is

$$1 + 0x + (a^{4} - 1)x^{2} + (a^{6} - a^{2} + a^{-2} + a^{-6})x^{3} + (a^{8} - 1 - a^{-4} + a^{-8})x^{4} + \dots$$
(4.13)

This index holds when the CS levels are sufficiently high so that the contributions from non-zero fluxes $n_1^{(i)}, n_2^{(i)}$ appear at a higher order.¹⁷ The term 0x implies that there is no $\mathcal{N} = 3$ flavour symmetry current. Therefore, the term $-x^2$ indicates that there is one extra SUSY-current, implying that the IR SCFT has enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry. The term a^4x^2 corresponds to the marginal operator \mathbb{M}_2 , defined in (4.3). When the ATT condition is not satisfied, we set a = 1 in (4.13). In this case, the index does not provide any evidence for supersymmetry enhancement.

4.2 Two T_3 building blocks

Similarly to (3.1), we can couple two copies of the T_3 theory together by gauging a diagonal subgroup of the two SU(3)_i flavour symmetries (with i = 1, 2, 3), belonging to different copies of the T_3 theories, with CS levels k_i .

$$T_3 \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} k_1 \\ k_2 \\ k_3 \end{array}}_{k_3} T_3 \tag{4.14}$$

This theory has a \mathbb{Z}_3^2 one-form symmetry, whose 't Hooft anomaly is given by (4.5). The index of this theory is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{(4.14)}(a, n_a; x) = \frac{1}{(3!)^3} \prod_{i=1}^3 \sum_{\substack{n_1^{(i)}, n_2^{(i)} \in \mathbb{Z}}} \oint \frac{dw_1^{(i)}}{2\pi w_1^{(i)}} \frac{dw_2^{(i)}}{2\pi w_2^{(i)}} (w_1^{(i)})^{k_i(2n_1^{(i)} + n_2^{(i)})} (w_2^{(i)})^{k_i(n_1^{(i)} + 2n_2^{(i)})} \times \left[\prod_{i=1}^3 \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{SU}(3)} \left(\boldsymbol{w}^{(i)}; \boldsymbol{n}^{(i)}; x \right) \right] \prod_{s=\pm 1} \mathcal{I}_{T_3}(\boldsymbol{w}^{(1)}, \boldsymbol{n}^{(1)} | \boldsymbol{w}^{(2)}, \boldsymbol{n}^{(2)} | \boldsymbol{w}^{(3)}, \boldsymbol{n}^{(3)} | a^s, sn_a; x).$$
(4.15)

Once again, the fugacity a and background magnetic flux n_a for the flavour symmetry should be set to 1 and 0 respectively if the ATT condition (2.6) is not satisfied.

Due to the technicality of the computation, we set $n_a = 0$ and we report only the contributions of the zero gauge fluxes $n_1^{(i)}, n_2^{(i)} = 0$:

$$1 + 0x + \left(a^4 + a^{-4} + 4 - 1\right)x^2 + 2\left(a^6 + a^{-6}\right)x^3 + \left[2\left(a^8 + a^{-8}\right) + 3\right]x^4 + \dots$$
(4.16)

Note that this is the index of theory (4.14) with sufficiently large CS levels $k_{1,2,3}$. As before, the term 0x indicates that there is no $\mathcal{N} = 3$ flavour symmetry current, and so the term $-1x^2$ indicates that there is one extra SUSY-current. The IR SCFT indeed has enhanced $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry. The positive terms at order x^2 correspond to the following marginal operators:

$$a^{\pm 4}: \quad \mathbb{M}_{2}^{(1)}, \ \mathbb{M}_{2}^{(2)}, 4: \quad \operatorname{tr}_{1}\left(X^{(1)}X^{(2)}\right), \ \operatorname{tr}_{2}\left(Y^{(1)}Y^{(2)}\right), \ \operatorname{tr}_{3}\left(Z^{(1)}Z^{(2)}\right) \text{ and } \mathcal{Q}^{(1)i_{1}i_{2}i_{3}}\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}^{(2)}_{i_{1}i_{2}i_{3}},$$

$$(4.17)$$

where we have used the same notation as in (4.3) with an extra superscript (I) such that I = 1, 2 to denote the I-th copy of the T_3 theory.

¹⁷For example, the index for theory (4.4) with CS levels (-1, 2, 2) is $1 + 0x + (a^4 - 1)x^2 + (a^6 - a^2 + a^{-2} - 3a^{-6})x^3 + (a^8 - 1 - 5a^{-4} + 2a^{-8})x^4 + \dots$ On the other hand, for CS levels (-3, 6, 6), the index up to order x^4 is given by (4.13).

Acknowledgments

We express our gratitude to Matteo Sacchi and Alessandro Tomasiello for a number of useful discussions and for carefully reading through the manuscript as well as providing us with insightful comments. N.M. thanks the visiting research fellowship of the CNRS and the LPTENS, ENS Paris, where part of this project was conducted.

A Theories with four T_2 building blocks

In this appendix, we consider theories obtained by gauging four copies of the T_2 theory in the way depicted below:



where each line with label k denotes the gauging with CS level k of the diagonal SU(2) subgroup of the SU(2) × SU(2) flavour symmetry belonging to a pair of T_2 theories. Theory (A.1) admits an *equivalent* quiver description in terms of the USp(2)_{-k}×Spin(4)_{2k}× USp(2)_{-k}×Spin(4)_{2k} circular quiver with a bifundamental half-hypermultiplet corresponding to each line between adjacent gauge nodes.



(A.2)

Let us compute the index of our theory, which is given by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L}_{(A.1)}\left(a,n_{a};x\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{64} \sum_{(m_{1},\dots,m_{6})\in\mathbb{Z}^{6}} \oint \left(\prod_{b=1}^{6} \frac{dz_{b}}{2\pi i z_{b}}\right) \\ &\times z_{1}^{-2km_{1}} z_{2}^{4km_{2}} z_{3}^{4km_{3}} z_{4}^{-2km_{4}} z_{5}^{4km_{5}} z_{6}^{4km_{6}} \prod_{b=1}^{6} \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{SU}(2)}\left(z_{b};m_{b};x\right) \prod_{s_{1},s_{2},s_{3}=\pm 1} \\ &\times \left[\mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(z_{1}^{s_{1}} z_{2}^{s_{2}} z_{3}^{s_{3}} a;s_{1}m_{1} + s_{2}m_{2} + s_{3}m_{3} + n_{a};x\right) \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(z_{2}^{s_{1}} z_{3}^{s_{2}} z_{4}^{s_{3}} a^{-1};s_{1}m_{2} + s_{2}m_{3} + s_{3}m_{4} - n_{a};x\right) \\ &\times \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(z_{4}^{s_{1}} z_{5}^{s_{2}} z_{6}^{s_{3}} a;s_{1}m_{4} + s_{2}m_{5} + s_{3}m_{6} + n_{a};x\right) \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(z_{5}^{s_{1}} z_{6}^{s_{2}} z_{1}^{s_{3}} a^{-1};s_{1}m_{5} + s_{2}m_{6} + s_{3}m_{1} - n_{a};x\right)\right], \end{aligned}$$

where a and n_a are the fugacity and background magnetic flux for the flavour symmetry that assigns charge +1 to the chiral fields of theories $T^{(1)}$ and $T^{(3)}$ and -1 to those of theories

(A.4)

 $T^{(2)}$ and $T^{(4)}$. For simplicity, we will set $n_a = 0$ upon computing the series expansion of the index.

On the other hand, the index of theory (A.2) can be obtained starting from the one of the $USp(2)_{-k} \times SO(4)_{2k} \times USp(2)_{-k} \times SO(4)_{2k}$ circular quiver theory.

 $SO(4)_{2k}$

 $USp(2)_{-}$

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}_{(A.4)}(\zeta_{1},\zeta_{2},a;x) \\ &= \frac{1}{64} \sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{m}_{1},\ldots,\mathfrak{m}_{4},\mathfrak{n}_{1},\mathfrak{n}_{2} \in \mathbb{Z}}} \oint \left(\prod_{b=1}^{4} \frac{dv_{b}}{2\pi i v_{b}} v_{b}^{2k\mathfrak{m}_{b}} \right) \zeta_{1}^{\mathfrak{m}_{1}+\mathfrak{m}_{2}} \zeta_{2}^{\mathfrak{m}_{3}+\mathfrak{m}_{4}} \oint \left(\prod_{b=1}^{2} \frac{du_{b}}{2\pi i u_{b}} u_{b}^{-2k\mathfrak{n}_{b}} \right) \times \\ & \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{SO}(4)}(v_{1},v_{2};\mathfrak{m}_{1},\mathfrak{m}_{2};x) \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{USP}(2)}(u_{1};\mathfrak{n}_{1};x) \times \\ & \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{SO}(4)}(v_{3},v_{4};\mathfrak{m}_{3},\mathfrak{m}_{4};x) \mathcal{Z}_{\text{vec}}^{\text{USP}(2)}(u_{2};\mathfrak{n}_{2};x) \times \\ & \prod_{b=1}^{2} \prod_{s_{1},s_{2}=\pm 1} \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(v_{b}^{s_{1}}u_{1}^{s_{2}}a;s_{1}\mathfrak{m}_{b}+s_{2}\mathfrak{n}_{1};x\right) \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(v_{b}^{s_{1}}u_{2}^{s_{2}}a^{-1};s_{1}\mathfrak{m}_{b}+s_{2}\mathfrak{n}_{2};x\right) \times \\ & \prod_{b=3}^{4} \prod_{s_{1},s_{2}=\pm 1} \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(v_{b}^{s_{1}}u_{1}^{s_{2}}a^{-1};s_{1}\mathfrak{m}_{b}+s_{2}\mathfrak{n}_{1};x\right) \mathcal{Z}_{\chi}^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(v_{b}^{s_{1}}u_{2}^{s_{2}}a;s_{1}\mathfrak{m}_{b}+s_{2}\mathfrak{n}_{2};x\right), \end{split}$$
(A.5)

 $USp(2)_{-i}$

where ζ_1 and ζ_2 are the fugacities associated with the \mathbb{Z}_2 zero-form magnetic symmetries of the two SO(4)_{2k} gauge factors, and the fugacities for the zero-form charge conjugation symmetries are set to unity. In order to obtain the index of the circular quiver (A.2) with Spin gauge groups, we have to sum over both $\zeta_1 = \pm 1$ and $\zeta_2 = \pm 1$ and divide by four:

$$\mathcal{I}_{(A.2)}(a;x) = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\zeta_1, \zeta_2 = \pm 1} \mathcal{I}_{(A.4)}(\zeta_1, \zeta_2, a; x).$$
(A.6)

It is easy to check that the indices (A.3) and (A.6) are equal if we perform the following map between the gauge fugacities and magnetic fluxes of the two theories:

$$z_{1} = u_{1}, \qquad z_{2}^{2} = v_{1}v_{2}, \qquad z_{3}^{2} = v_{1}v_{2}^{-1}, z_{4} = u_{2}, \qquad z_{5}^{2} = v_{3}v_{4}, \qquad z_{6}^{2} = v_{3}v_{4}^{-1}, m_{1} = \mathfrak{n}_{1}, \qquad 2m_{2} = \mathfrak{m}_{1} + \mathfrak{m}_{2}, \qquad 2m_{3} = \mathfrak{m}_{1} - \mathfrak{m}_{2}, m_{4} = \mathfrak{n}_{2}, \qquad 2m_{5} = \mathfrak{m}_{3} + \mathfrak{m}_{4}, \qquad 2m_{6} = \mathfrak{m}_{3} - \mathfrak{m}_{4}.$$
(A.7)

It can now be checked that the IR SCFT in question exhibits $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry enhancement, as expected from the general prescription described in the main text, by computing the index as a series expansion in the variable x. We report the results up to order x^4 for various values of k:

$$k = 1: \quad \mathcal{I}_{(A.1)}(a; x) = \mathcal{I}_{(A.2)}(a; x)$$

$$= 1 + (2a^{4} + 2a^{-4} + 3)x^{2} - 4(a^{2} + a^{-2})x^{3}$$

$$+ (6a^{8} + 3a^{4} + 3a^{-4} + 6a^{-8} + 7)x^{4} + \dots,$$

$$k = 2: \quad \mathcal{I}_{(A.1)}(a; x) = \mathcal{I}_{(A.2)}(a; x)$$

$$= 1 + (2a^{4} + 2a^{-4} + 3)x^{2} - 4(a^{2} + a^{-2})x^{3}$$

$$+ (3a^{8} + 2a^{4} + 2a^{-4} + 3a^{-8} + 4)x^{4} + \dots.$$
(A.8)

Note that for $k \ge 2$ the indices differ at a higher order than x^4 in the expansion. We notice that the coefficient of x vanishes, meaning that there is no $\mathcal{N} = 3$ flavour current. The coefficient of x^2 should be written as

$$2a^4 + 2a^{-4} + 4 - 1, (A.9)$$

where the term -1 is the contribution of the $\mathcal{N} = 3$ extra SUSY-current that leads to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry enhancement. The marginal operators, contributing the positive terms $2a^4 + 2a^{-4} + 4$, can be listed as follows:

$$2a^{4}: \operatorname{tr}(\mu^{(1)\,2}) \text{ and } \operatorname{tr}(\mu^{(3)\,2}),$$

$$2a^{-4}: \operatorname{tr}(\mu^{(2)\,2}) \text{ and } \operatorname{tr}(\mu^{(4)\,2}),$$

$$4: \text{ gauge invariant combinations of two chiral fields } Q_{i_{IJ}I_{KI}}^{(I)} \text{ of } T_{2}^{(I)}$$
and two chiral fields $Q_{i_{J}JJ_{KJ}}^{(J)}$ of $T_{2}^{(J)}$, with $I = 1, 3$ and $J = 2, 4$.
$$(A.10)$$

We can gauge the one-form symmetry of the theory (A.1) to obtain the $\mathrm{SU}(2)_{-k} \times [\mathrm{SU}(2)_{2k} \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_{2k}]/\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_{-k} \times [\mathrm{SU}(2)_{2k} \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_{2k}]/\mathbb{Z}_2$ gauge theory, as depicted below.



It turns out that this theory is equivalent to the circular quiver theory (A.4). The index of theory (A.11) can be obtained from (A.3) by replacing the summation as

$$\sum_{(m_1,\dots,m_6)\in\mathbb{Z}^6} \longrightarrow \sum_{p=0}^1 \zeta_1^p \sum_{p'=0}^1 \zeta_2^{p'} \sum_{m_1,m_4\in\mathbb{Z}^2} \sum_{m_2,m_3\in\left(\mathbb{Z}+\frac{p}{2}\right)^2} \sum_{m_5,m_6\in\left(\mathbb{Z}+\frac{p'}{2}\right)^2}, \quad (A.12)$$

where ζ_1 and ζ_2 are the fugacities of the zero-form symmetry of (A.11). The result of this procedure is equal to the index (A.5).¹⁸ Let us report the results for various values of k up to order x^4 . For k = 1, the expansion of the index up to order x^4 reads

$$\mathcal{I}_{(A.11)}(\zeta_{1},\zeta_{2},a;x) = \mathcal{I}_{(A.4)}(\zeta_{1},\zeta_{2},a;x)$$

$$k = 1: \quad 1 + \left[(2 + \zeta_{1} + \zeta_{2} + \zeta_{1}\zeta_{2}) \left(a^{4} + a^{-4} \right) + 3 + \zeta_{1} + \zeta_{2} + \zeta_{1}\zeta_{2} \right] x^{2}$$

$$+ \left[(\zeta_{1} + \zeta_{2} + 2\zeta_{1}\zeta_{2}) a^{6} + (-4 - \zeta_{1} - \zeta_{2} + 2\zeta_{1}\zeta_{2}) \left(a^{2} + a^{-2} \right) \right]$$

$$+ (\zeta_{1} + \zeta_{2} + 2\zeta_{1}\zeta_{2}) a^{-6} x^{3}$$

$$+ \left[(6 + 3\zeta_{1} + 3\zeta_{2} + 3\zeta_{1}\zeta_{2}) a^{8} + (3 - \zeta_{1} - \zeta_{2} - 3\zeta_{1}\zeta_{2}) \left(a^{4} + a^{-4} \right) \right]$$

$$+ (6 + 3\zeta_{1} + 3\zeta_{2} + 3\zeta_{1}\zeta_{2}) a^{-8} + 7 - 3\zeta_{1}\zeta_{2} x^{4} + \dots, \qquad (A.13)$$

For k = 2, 3 we get

$$k = 2: \quad 1 + \left(2a^4 + 2a^{-4} + 3\right)x^2 + \left[(\zeta_1 + \zeta_2)a^6 - 4\left(a^2 + a^{-2}\right) + (\zeta_1 + \zeta_2)a^{-6}\right]x^3 \\ + \left[(3 + \zeta_1 + \zeta_2 + \zeta_1\zeta_2)a^8 + (2 + \zeta_1\zeta_2)\left(a^4 + a^{-4}\right) + (3 + \zeta_1 + \zeta_2 + \zeta_1\zeta_2)a^{-8} + 4 + \zeta_1\zeta_2\right]x^4 + \dots,$$

$$k = 3: \quad 1 + \left(2a^4 + 2a^{-4} + 3\right)x^2 - 4\left(a^2 + a^{-2}\right)x^3$$
(A.14)

$$x = 3: \quad 1 + (2a^{2} + 2a^{-1} + 3)x^{2} - 4(a^{2} + a^{-2})x^{3} + [(3 + \zeta_{1} + \zeta_{2})a^{8} + 2(a^{4} + a^{-4}) + (3 + \zeta_{1} + \zeta_{2})a^{-8} + 4]x^{4} + \dots$$

For $k \ge 4$ the fugacities ζ_1 and ζ_2 appear at a higher order than x^4 .

From the expansion of the indices, it is clear that we have two independent \mathbb{Z}_2 fugacities ζ_1 and ζ_2 satisfying $\zeta_1^2 = \zeta_2^2 = 1$. Hence, the elements of $\{1, \zeta_1, \zeta_2, \zeta_1\zeta_2\}$ corresponding to the possible choices of $p = \{0, 1\}$ and $p' = \{0, 1\}$ in (A.12) indicate the presence of the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ zero-form symmetry in theory (A.4) = (A.11), and hence the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ one-form symmetry of theory (A.1) = (A.2).

From the point of view of the $USp(2)_{-k} \times SO(4)_{2k} \times USp(2)_{-k} \times SO(4)_{2k}$ circular quiver theory (A.4), it is expected by a similar argument that leads to (2.32) that there is a non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry for k even. In principle, one can further gauge this one-form symmetry, generalising what we did in (2.36).

B Mixed gauge/zero-form monopole operators

In this appendix, we examine the mixed gauge/zero-form monopole operators with *fractional* magnetic flux for both the Cartan subalgebra of the gauge group and the $U(1)_a$ flavour

¹⁸Indeed, by taking into account the map (A.7), ζ_1 and ζ_2 are such that

$$\zeta_{1}^{\mathfrak{m}_{1}\pm\mathfrak{m}_{2}} = \begin{cases} 1 & \mathfrak{m}_{1}\pm\mathfrak{m}_{2}\in\mathbb{Z}_{\text{even}}\longleftrightarrow m_{2}, m_{3}\in\mathbb{Z}\longleftrightarrow p = 0\\ \zeta_{1} & \mathfrak{m}_{1}\pm\mathfrak{m}_{2}\in\mathbb{Z}_{\text{odd}}\longleftrightarrow m_{2}, m_{3}\in\frac{\mathbb{Z}_{\text{odd}}}{2}\longleftrightarrow p = 1 \end{cases},$$
$$\zeta_{2}^{\mathfrak{m}_{3}\pm\mathfrak{m}_{4}} = \begin{cases} 1 & \mathfrak{m}_{3}\pm\mathfrak{m}_{4}\in\mathbb{Z}_{\text{even}}\longleftrightarrow m_{5}, m_{6}\in\mathbb{Z}\longleftrightarrow p' = 0\\ \zeta_{2} & \mathfrak{m}_{3}\pm\mathfrak{m}_{4}\in\mathbb{Z}_{\text{odd}}\longleftrightarrow m_{5}, m_{6}\in\frac{\mathbb{Z}_{\text{odd}}}{2}\longleftrightarrow p' = 1 \end{cases}.$$

symmetry group [59, 65] for theories (2.1) with one T_2 building block such that the ATT condition (2.6) is satisfied. We adopt the same method as described in [36] (see also [40]) which relies on the supersymmetric index. In particular, we take $n_a = 1/2$ in (2.7) and examine the contribution of the gauge fluxes $m_{1,2,3}$ satisfying the Dirac quantisation condition, namely $\pm m_1 \pm m_2 \pm m_3 + n_a \in \mathbb{Z}$, i.e.

$$\sum_{i} m_i \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}.$$
(B.1)

Let us report the result for various theories with one T_2 building block below.

CS levels	Gauge fluxes	Contribution to the index (2.7)	
	(m_1, m_2, m_3)		
(-1, 2, 2)	$\left(\frac{1}{2},0,0\right)$	0	
	$\left(0,\frac{1}{2},0\right)$	$X_2 \equiv \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2a^2}\right)x + \left(\frac{a^4}{2} - 1 - \frac{1}{a^2} - \frac{1}{2a^4}\right)x^5 + O(x^7)$	
	$\left(0,0,\frac{1}{2}\right)$	X_2	
	$\left(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)$	0	
(-2, 4, 4)	$\left(\frac{1}{2},0,0\right)$	$X_{-2} \equiv \frac{x}{2a^2} + \left(\frac{a^2}{2} - \frac{1}{a^2} - \frac{1}{2a^4}\right)x^5 + O(x^7)$	
	$\left(0,\frac{1}{2},0\right)$	$X_4 \equiv \left(\frac{a^2}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right)x^2 + \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2a^2}\right)x^4 + \left(\frac{a^6}{2} - a^2 - \frac{1}{2}\right)x^6 + O(x^7)$	
	$\left(0,0,\frac{1}{2}\right)$	X_4	
	$\left(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)$	$\left(\frac{a^3}{8} + \frac{a}{4} + \frac{1}{8a}\right)x^{3/2} + \left(\frac{1}{8a} + \frac{1}{8a^3}\right)x^{7/2} + O(x^{11/2})$	(B
		$= \frac{1}{4} \left[\{ x^{1/2}(a^5 + a^3) + \ldots \} X_{-2} + \{ x^{-1/2}a^{-1} + \ldots \} X_4 \right]$	
(-2, 3, 6)	$\left(\frac{1}{2},0,0\right)$	X_2	
	$\left(0,\frac{1}{2},0\right)$	0	
	$\left(0,0,\frac{1}{2}\right)$	$X_6 \equiv \left(\frac{a^4}{2} + \frac{a^2}{2}\right)x^3 + \left(\frac{a^2}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right)x^5 + \left(\frac{a^8}{2} - a^4 + \frac{1}{2}\right)x^7 + O(x^9)$	
	$\left(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)$	0	
(-4, 6, 12)	$\left(\frac{1}{2},0,0\right)$	$X_{-4} \equiv \left(\frac{1}{2a^2} + \frac{1}{2}\right)x^4 + \left(\frac{1}{2a^4} + \frac{1}{2a^6}\right)x^6 + \left(\frac{1}{2a^6} + \frac{a^4}{2} - \frac{3}{2a^2} - \frac{3}{2}\right)x^8 + O(x^{10})$	
	$\left(0,\frac{1}{2},0\right)$	X_6	
	$\left(0,0,\frac{1}{2}\right)$	$X_{12} \equiv \left(\frac{a^{10}}{2} + \frac{a^8}{2}\right) x^6 + \left(\frac{a^8}{2} + \frac{a^6}{2}\right) x^8 + \left(\frac{a^{14}}{2} - a^{10} + \frac{a^6}{2}\right) x^{10} + O(x^{12})$	
	$\left(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)$	$\left(\frac{a^{11}}{8} + \frac{a^9}{4} + \frac{a^7}{8}\right)x^{11/2} + \left(\frac{a^9}{8} + \frac{a^7}{4} + \frac{a^5}{8}\right)x^{15/2} + O(x^{19/2})$	

(B.2)

From the above results, we observe that whenever all CS levels are even, the contribution of the gauge fluxes $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ contains odd powers of a. This corresponds to a different quantisation in comparison to, for example (2.27), where only even powers of a appear. Note, however, that this is not the case if there exists an odd CS level. The presence of such mixed gauge/zero-form monopole operators, when all CS levels are even, potentially implies a mixed anomaly between a \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry and the U(1)_a symmetry [59, 65] (see also [36, 40]). In our case, such a mixed anomaly is characterised by the 4d anomaly action $\pi \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} w^{(2)} \cup c_1^a$, where $w^{(2)}$ is the two-form background field for a \mathbb{Z}_2 subgroup of the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ non-anomalous one-form symmetry and c_1^a is the first Chern class of a background $U(1)_a$ flavour symmetry bundle.¹⁹

A similar analysis can be performed for theories (3.1) with two T_2 building blocks such that the ATT condition (2.6) is satisfied. The only difference is that in the present case the faithful flavour symmetry group is SO(3)_a. This can be seen from the discussion in the previous subsection, where only representations of $\mathfrak{su}(2)_a$ with even Dynkin labels appear in the index. To determine whether there is a mixed anomaly involving the flavour symmetry, we fix $n_a = 1/2$ in (3.4); this amounts to turning on the second Stiefel-Whitney class w_2^a that obstructs the lift from the SO(3)_a bundle to the SU(2)_a bundle. The Dirac quantisation condition requires that the gauge fluxes $m_{1,2,3}$ satisfy $\pm m_1 \pm m_2 \pm m_3 \pm n_a \in \mathbb{Z}$, i.e. $\sum_i m_i \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}$. We tabulate the contributions of some of such gauge fluxes in certain examples below.

CS levels	Gauge fluxes	Contribution to the index (3.4)	
	(m_1, m_2, m_3)		
(-2, 3, 6)	$\left(\frac{1}{2},0,0\right)$	$X_{-2} \equiv \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2a^2}\right)x^2 + \left(\frac{a^2}{2} + \frac{3}{2} + \frac{3}{2a^2} + \frac{1}{2a^4}\right)x^5 + O(x^7)$	
	$\left(0,\frac{1}{2},0\right)$	0	
	$\left(0,0,\frac{1}{2}\right)$	$X_6 \equiv \left(\frac{a^6}{2} + \frac{a^4}{2}\right) x^4 + \left(-\frac{a^4}{2} - \frac{a^2}{2}\right) x^5 + \left(\frac{a^4}{2} + \frac{3a^2}{2} + 1\right) x^6 + O(x^7)$	
	$\left(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)$	0	(B.3)
(-4, 6, 12)	$\left(\frac{1}{2},0,0\right)$	$X_{-4} \equiv \left(\frac{1}{2a^2} + \frac{1}{2a^4}\right)x^3 + \left(-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2a^2}\right)x^4 + \left(\frac{a^2}{2} + 1 + \frac{1}{2a^2}\right)x^5 + O(x^6)$	
	$\left(0,\frac{1}{2},0\right)$	X_6	
	$\left(0,0,\frac{1}{2}\right)$	$X_{12} \equiv \left(\frac{a^{12}}{2} + \frac{a^{10}}{2}\right)x^7 + \left(-\frac{a^{10}}{2} - \frac{a^8}{2}\right)x^8 + O(x^9)$	
	$\left(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)$	$\left(\frac{a^{14}}{8} + \frac{a^{12}}{4} + \frac{a^{10}}{8}\right)x^7 + \left(-\frac{a^{12}}{8} - \frac{a^{10}}{4} - \frac{a^8}{8}\right)x^8 + O(x^9)$	

In contrast to the precedent example of one T_2 building block, we see that only even powers of *a* appear in the above. We therefore do not observe a mixed anomaly between a \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry and the SO(3)_{*a*} flavour symmetry.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- D. Gaiotto and X. Yin, Notes on superconformal Chern-Simons-Matter theories, JHEP 08 (2007) 056 [arXiv:0704.3740] [INSPIRE].
- [2] A. Gustavsson, Algebraic structures on parallel M2-branes, Nucl. Phys. B 811 (2009) 66 [arXiv:0709.1260] [INSPIRE].

¹⁹Let us compare the above interpretation with respect to (2.36). Recall that in the latter we gauge the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ one-form symmetry of theory (2.1) with CS levels $(k_1, k_2, k_3) = (-4, 8, 8)$ and obtain the dual $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ zero-form symmetry associated with the fugacities ζ and s. Observe that only even powers of aappear in (2.36), and we do not see any indication of the mixed anomaly between a \mathbb{Z}_2 subgroup the $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ zero-form symmetry and the U(1)_a zero-form symmetry. A natural question that arises is whether this is in contradiction with the above interpretation regarding the mixed anomaly between the \mathbb{Z}_2 one-form symmetry and the U(1)_a flavour symmetry. (Note also that the quantisation condition (B.1) with $n_a = 1/2$ is different from (2.35) with $n_a = 0$.) We leave this for a future investigation.

- [3] J. Bagger and N. Lambert, Gauge symmetry and supersymmetry of multiple M2-branes, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 065008 [arXiv:0711.0955] [INSPIRE].
- [4] M.A. Bandres, A.E. Lipstein and J.H. Schwarz, N = 8 Superconformal Chern-Simons Theories, JHEP 05 (2008) 025 [arXiv:0803.3242] [INSPIRE].
- [5] D. Gaiotto and E. Witten, Janus Configurations, Chern-Simons Couplings, And The theta-Angle in N=4 Super Yang-Mills Theory, JHEP 06 (2010) 097 [arXiv:0804.2907]
 [INSPIRE].
- [6] K. Hosomichi et al., N=4 Superconformal Chern-Simons Theories with Hyper and Twisted Hyper Multiplets, JHEP 07 (2008) 091 [arXiv:0805.3662] [INSPIRE].
- [7] K. Hosomichi et al., N=5,6 Superconformal Chern-Simons Theories and M2-branes on Orbifolds, JHEP 09 (2008) 002 [arXiv:0806.4977] [INSPIRE].
- [8] O. Aharony, O. Bergman, D.L. Jafferis and J. Maldacena, N=6 superconformal Chern-Simons-matter theories, M2-branes and their gravity duals, JHEP 10 (2008) 091
 [arXiv:0806.1218] [INSPIRE].
- M. Schnabl and Y. Tachikawa, Classification of N=6 superconformal theories of ABJM type, JHEP 09 (2010) 103 [arXiv:0807.1102] [INSPIRE].
- [10] O. Aharony, O. Bergman and D.L. Jafferis, Fractional M2-branes, JHEP 11 (2008) 043
 [arXiv:0807.4924] [INSPIRE].
- [11] D. Gaiotto, N = 2 dualities, JHEP 08 (2012) 034 [arXiv:0904.2715] [INSPIRE].
- [12] D. Gaiotto and J. Maldacena, The gravity duals of N = 2 superconformal field theories, JHEP 10 (2012) 189 [arXiv:0904.4466] [INSPIRE].
- [13] J. Eckhard, H. Kim, S. Schafer-Nameki and B. Willett, *Higher-Form Symmetries, Bethe Vacua, and the 3d-3d Correspondence, JHEP* **01** (2020) 101 [arXiv:1910.14086] [INSPIRE].
- [14] B. Assel, Y. Tachikawa and A. Tomasiello, $On \mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry enhancements in three dimensions, *JHEP* **03** (2023) 170 [arXiv:2209.13984] [INSPIRE].
- [15] Y. Terashima and M. Yamazaki, SL(2, R) Chern-Simons, Liouville, and Gauge Theory on Duality Walls, JHEP 08 (2011) 135 [arXiv:1103.5748] [INSPIRE].
- [16] T. Dimofte, D. Gaiotto and S. Gukov, Gauge Theories Labelled by Three-Manifolds, Commun. Math. Phys. 325 (2014) 367 [arXiv:1108.4389] [INSPIRE].
- [17] A. Gadde, S. Gukov and P. Putrov, Fivebranes and 4-manifolds, Prog. Math. 319 (2016) 155
 [arXiv:1306.4320] [INSPIRE].
- [18] H.-J. Chung, T. Dimofte, S. Gukov and P. Sułkowski, 3d-3d Correspondence Revisited, JHEP 04 (2016) 140 [arXiv:1405.3663] [INSPIRE].
- [19] S. Gukov, P. Putrov and C. Vafa, Fivebranes and 3-manifold homology, JHEP 07 (2017) 071 [arXiv:1602.05302] [INSPIRE].
- [20] S. Gukov, D. Pei, P. Putrov and C. Vafa, BPS spectra and 3-manifold invariants, J. Knot Theor. Ramifications 29 (2020) 2040003 [arXiv:1701.06567] [INSPIRE].
- [21] D. Gang and K. Yonekura, Symmetry enhancement and closing of knots in 3d/3d correspondence, JHEP 07 (2018) 145 [arXiv:1803.04009] [INSPIRE].
- [22] B. Assel and A. Tomasiello, Holographic duals of 3d S-fold CFTs, JHEP 06 (2018) 019 [arXiv:1804.06419] [INSPIRE].

- [23] D. Gang and M. Yamazaki, Three-dimensional gauge theories with supersymmetry enhancement, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 121701 [arXiv:1806.07714] [INSPIRE].
- [24] G.Y. Cho, D. Gang and H.-C. Kim, *M-theoretic Genesis of Topological Phases*, JHEP 11 (2020) 115 [arXiv:2007.01532] [INSPIRE].
- [25] D. Gang et al., Non-unitary TQFTs from 3D $\mathcal{N} = 4$ rank 0 SCFTs, JHEP 08 (2021) 158 [arXiv:2103.09283] [INSPIRE].
- [26] J. Bhattacharya, S. Bhattacharyya, S. Minwalla and S. Raju, Indices for Superconformal Field Theories in 3, 5 and 6 Dimensions, JHEP 02 (2008) 064 [arXiv:0801.1435] [INSPIRE].
- [27] J. Bhattacharya and S. Minwalla, Superconformal Indices for N = 6 Chern Simons Theories, JHEP **01** (2009) 014 [arXiv:0806.3251] [INSPIRE].
- [28] S. Kim, The complete superconformal index for N = 6 Chern-Simons theory, Nucl. Phys. B 821 (2009) 241 [Erratum ibid. 864 (2012) 884] [arXiv:0903.4172] [INSPIRE].
- [29] Y. Imamura and S. Yokoyama, Index for three dimensional superconformal field theories with general R-charge assignments, JHEP 04 (2011) 007 [arXiv:1101.0557] [INSPIRE].
- [30] A. Kapustin and B. Willett, Generalized Superconformal Index for Three Dimensional Field Theories, arXiv:1106.2484 [INSPIRE].
- [31] T. Dimofte, D. Gaiotto and S. Gukov, 3-Manifolds and 3d Indices, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 17 (2013) 975 [arXiv:1112.5179] [INSPIRE].
- [32] O. Aharony, S.S. Razamat, N. Seiberg and B. Willett, 3d dualities from 4d dualities, JHEP 07 (2013) 149 [arXiv:1305.3924] [INSPIRE].
- [33] O. Aharony, S.S. Razamat, N. Seiberg and B. Willett, 3d dualities from 4d dualities for orthogonal groups, JHEP 08 (2013) 099 [arXiv:1307.0511] [INSPIRE].
- [34] I. Garozzo, G. Lo Monaco, N. Mekareeya and M. Sacchi, Supersymmetric Indices of 3d S-fold SCFTs, JHEP 08 (2019) 008 [arXiv:1905.07183] [INSPIRE].
- [35] E. Beratto, N. Mekareeya and M. Sacchi, Zero-form and one-form symmetries of the ABJ and related theories, JHEP 04 (2022) 126 [arXiv:2112.09531] [INSPIRE].
- [36] N. Mekareeya and M. Sacchi, Mixed anomalies, two-groups, non-invertible symmetries, and 3d superconformal indices, JHEP 01 (2023) 115 [arXiv:2210.02466] [INSPIRE].
- [37] A. Kapustin and N. Seiberg, *Coupling a QFT to a TQFT and Duality*, *JHEP* **04** (2014) 001 [arXiv:1401.0740] [INSPIRE].
- [38] D. Gaiotto, A. Kapustin, N. Seiberg and B. Willett, Generalized Global Symmetries, JHEP 02 (2015) 172 [arXiv:1412.5148] [INSPIRE].
- [39] P.-S. Hsin, H.T. Lam and N. Seiberg, Comments on One-Form Global Symmetries and Their Gauging in 3d and 4d, SciPost Phys. 6 (2019) 039 [arXiv:1812.04716] [INSPIRE].
- [40] M. Sacchi, O. Sela and G. Zafrir, 5d to 3d compactifications and discrete anomalies, arXiv:2305.08185 [INSPIRE].
- [41] S.S. Razamat and B. Willett, Down the rabbit hole with theories of class S, JHEP 10 (2014) 099 [arXiv:1403.6107] [INSPIRE].
- [42] S. Benvenuti, B. Feng, A. Hanany and Y.-H. He, Counting BPS Operators in Gauge Theories: Quivers, Syzygies and Plethystics, JHEP 11 (2007) 050 [hep-th/0608050] [INSPIRE].

- [43] B. Feng, A. Hanany and Y.-H. He, Counting gauge invariants: The plethystic program, JHEP
 03 (2007) 090 [hep-th/0701063] [INSPIRE].
- [44] B. Li, D. Xie and W.B. Yan, Superconformal indices of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Chern-Simons matter theories, arXiv:2305.08784 [INSPIRE].
- [45] L. Bhardwaj, Global form of flavor symmetry groups in 4d N = 2 theories of class S, SciPost Phys. 12 (2022) 183 [arXiv:2105.08730] [INSPIRE].
- [46] F. Benini, P.-S. Hsin and N. Seiberg, Comments on global symmetries, anomalies, and duality in (2+1)d, JHEP 04 (2017) 135 [arXiv:1702.07035] [INSPIRE].
- [47] D. Gaiotto and E. Witten, S-Duality of Boundary Conditions In N = 4 Super Yang-Mills Theory, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 13 (2009) 721 [arXiv:0807.3720] [INSPIRE].
- [48] C. Cordova, T.T. Dumitrescu and K. Intriligator, Multiplets of Superconformal Symmetry in Diverse Dimensions, JHEP 03 (2019) 163 [arXiv:1612.00809] [INSPIRE].
- [49] S.S. Razamat and G. Zafrir, *Exceptionally simple exceptional models*, *JHEP* **11** (2016) 061 [arXiv:1609.02089] [INSPIRE].
- [50] M. Evtikhiev, Studying superconformal symmetry enhancement through indices, JHEP 04 (2018) 120 [arXiv:1708.08307] [INSPIRE].
- [51] E. Beratto, N. Mekareeya and M. Sacchi, Marginal operators and supersymmetry enhancement in 3d S-fold SCFTs, JHEP 12 (2020) 017 [arXiv:2009.10123] [INSPIRE].
- [52] Y. Tachikawa and G. Zafrir, *Reflection groups and 3d* $\mathcal{N} \geq 6$ *SCFTs*, *JHEP* **12** (2019) 176 [arXiv:1908.03346] [INSPIRE].
- [53] Y. Tachikawa, On gauging finite subgroups, SciPost Phys. 8 (2020) 015 [arXiv:1712.09542]
 [INSPIRE].
- [54] N. Seiberg and E. Witten, Gauge dynamics and compactification to three-dimensions, in the proceedings of the Conference on the Mathematical Beauty of Physics (In Memory of C. Itzykson), Saclay, France, June 5–7, 1996, p. 333–366 [hep-th/9607163] [INSPIRE].
- [55] G. Ferlito and A. Hanany, A tale of two cones: the Higgs Branch of Sp(n) theories with 2n flavours, arXiv:1609.06724 [INSPIRE].
- [56] B. Assel and S. Cremonesi, The Infrared Fixed Points of $3d \mathcal{N} = 4 \text{ USp}(2N) SQCD$ Theories, SciPost Phys. 5 (2018) 015 [arXiv:1802.04285] [INSPIRE].
- [57] A. Hatcher, Notes on basic 3-manifold topology, (2007) https://pi.math.cornell.edu/~hatcher/3M/3M.pdf.
- [58] P.B. Genolini and L. Tizzano, Comments on Global Symmetries and Anomalies of 5d SCFTs, arXiv:2201.02190 [INSPIRE].
- [59] L. Bhardwaj, M. Bullimore, A.E.V. Ferrari and S. Schafer-Nameki, Anomalies of Generalized Symmetries from Solitonic Defects, arXiv:2205.15330 [INSPIRE].
- [60] Z. Komargodski, A. Sharon, R. Thorngren and X. Zhou, Comments on Abelian Higgs Models and Persistent Order, SciPost Phys. 6 (2019) 003 [arXiv:1705.04786] [INSPIRE].
- [61] L. Bhardwaj, M. Hubner and S. Schafer-Nameki, 1-form Symmetries of 4d N = 2 Class S Theories, SciPost Phys. 11 (2021) 096 [arXiv:2102.01693] [INSPIRE].
- [62] O. Bergman, Y. Tachikawa and G. Zafrir, *Generalized symmetries and holography in ABJM-type theories*, *JHEP* **07** (2020) 077 [arXiv:2004.05350] [INSPIRE].

- [63] K. Maruyoshi, Y. Tachikawa, W. Yan and K. Yonekura, $\mathcal{N} = 1$ dynamics with T_N theory, JHEP 10 (2013) 010 [arXiv:1305.5250] [INSPIRE].
- [64] Y. Tachikawa, A review of the T_N theory and its cousins, PTEP **2015** (2015) 11B102 [arXiv:1504.01481] [INSPIRE].
- [65] L. Bhardwaj, M. Bullimore, A.E.V. Ferrari and S. Schafer-Nameki, Generalized Symmetries and Anomalies of 3d N = 4 SCFTs, arXiv:2301.02249 [INSPIRE].